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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
This report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements about Giga-tronics Incorporated (the “Company”) for which it claims the
protection of the safe harbor provisions contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Examples of forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to: (i) projections of revenues, expenses, income or loss, earnings or loss per share, capital structure
and other financial items; (ii) statements of plans, objectives and expectations of the Company or its management or board of directors,
including those relating to products, revenue or cost savings; (iii) statements of future economic performance; and (iv) statements of
assumptions underlying such statements.  Words such as "believes", "anticipates", "expects", "intends", "targeted", "projected", "continue",
"remain", "will", "should", "may" and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the
exclusive means of identifying such statements.
 
These forward-looking statements are based on Management’s current knowledge and belief and include information concerning the
Company’s possible or assumed future financial condition and results of operations. A number of factors, some of which are beyond the
Company’s ability to predict or control, could cause future results to differ materially from those contemplated. These factors include but
are not limited to risks related to (1) the potential loss of certain future orders and sales if the Company is unable to regain certification of
AS9100C compliance or similar assurance of quality control within a reasonable time; (2) the Company’s potential inability to obtain
necessary capital to finance its operations; (3) possible delisting of the Company’s common stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market; (4) the
Company’s ability to develop competitive products in a market with rapidly changing technology and standards; (5) risks related to
customers’ credit worthiness/profiles; (6) changes in the Company’s credit profile and its ability to borrow; (7) a potential decline in
demand for certain of the Company’s products; (8) potential product liability claims; (9) the potential loss of key personnel; and (10) U.S.
and international economic conditions. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial
may also affect our business operations. The reader is directed to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 28,
2015 for further discussion of factors that could affect the Company's business and cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed in any forward-looking statement made in this report. The Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking
statements in this report.      
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GIGA-TRONICS INCORPORATED     
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)

 

(In thousands except share data)
December 26,

2015  
March 28,

2015  
Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash-equivalents $ 783 $ 1,170 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance of $45, respectively  2,136  2,354 
Inventories, net  4,311  3,365 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  171  373 

Total current assets  7,401  7,262 
Property and equipment, net  774  718 
Other long term assets  68  74 
Capitalized software development costs  440  — 
Total assets $ 8,683 $ 8,054 
Liabilities and shareholders' equity       
Current liabilities:       

Line of credit $ 1,200 $ — 
Current portion of long term debt, net of discount  575  811 
Accounts payable  2,431  973 
Accrued payroll and benefits  582  678 
Deferred revenue  1,394  1,127 
Deferred rent  144  127 
Capital lease obligations  48  69 
Other current liabilities  584  501 

Total current liabilities  6,958  4,286 
Long term loan  —  392 
Warrant liability, at estimated fair value  392  252 
Long term obligations - deferred rent  —  111 
Long term obligations - capital lease  177  58 
Total liabilities  7,527  5,099 

Commitments and contingencies       
Shareholders' equity:       
Convertible preferred stock of no par value Authorized - 1,000,000 shares; Series A - designated

250,000 shares; no shares at December 26, 2015 and March 28, 2015 issued and outstanding  —  — 
Series B, C, D- designated 19,500 shares; 18,533.51 shares at December 26, 2015 and March

28, 2015 issued and outstanding; (liquidation value of $3,540 at December 26, 2015 and
March 28, 2015)  2,911  2,911 

Common stock of no par value; Authorized - 40,000,000 shares; 6,752,581 shares at December
26, 2015 and 6,705,065 at March 28, 2015 issued and outstanding  20,713  19,975 
Accumulated deficit  (22,468)  (19,931)
Total shareholders' equity  1,156  2,955 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 8,683 $ 8,054 
 

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements                
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GIGA-TRONICS INCORPORATED
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

 

  
Three Month Periods

Ended   
Nine Month Periods

Ended  

(In thousands except per share data)  

December
26,

2015   

December
27,

2014   

December
26,

2015   

December
27,

2014  
Net sales  $ 4,483  $ 4,509  $ 11,921  $ 14,127 
Cost of sales   2,868   2,637   7,701   8,101 
Gross margin   1,615   1,872   4,220   6,026 
                 
Operating expenses:                 

Engineering   614   672   2,179   2,563 
Selling, general and administrative   1,417   1,133   4,221   3,401 

Total operating expenses   2,031   1,805   6,400   5,964 
                 
Operating income/( loss)   (416)   67   (2,180)   62 
                 
Gain/(loss) on adjustment of derivative liability to fair value   (98)   107   (51)   16 
Interest expense:                 

Interest expense, net   (54)   (62)   (164)   (199)
Interest expense from accretion of loan discount   (34)   (45)   (140)   (115)

Total interest expense   (88)   (107)   (304)   (314)
Income / (loss) before income taxes   (602)   67   (2,535)   (236)
Provision for income taxes   —   —   2   47 
Net income/(loss)  $ (602)  $ 67  $ (2,537)  $ (283)
                 
Earnings/ (loss) per common share - basic  $ (0.09)  $ 0.01  $ (0.40)  $ (0.05)
Earnings/(loss) per common share - diluted  $ (0.09)  $ 0.01  $ (0.40)  $ (0.05)
                 
Weighted average shares used in per share calculation:                 

Basic   6,484   5,208   6,402   5,166 
Diluted   6,484   5,463   6,402   5,166 

 
See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements  
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GIGA-TRONICS INCORPORATED
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

 
  Nine Month Periods Ended  

(In thousands)  
December 26,

2015   
December 27,

2014  
Cash flows from operating activities:         
Net loss  $ (2,537)  $ (283)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   220   237 
Share based compensation   717   545 
Loss on adjustment of derivative liability to fair value   51   (16)
Accretion of discounts on loan   140   115 
Change in deferred rent   (94)   (76)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities   708   (1,035)

Net cash used in operating activities   (795)   (513)
         
Cash flows from investing activities:         
Purchases of property and equipment   (109)   (30)
Net cash used in investing activities   (109)   (30)
         
Cash flows from financing activities:         
Proceeds from line of credit   1,200   8,125 
Repayments of debt   (680)   (99)
Payments on capital leases   (65)   (123)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   62   145 
Proceeds from issuance of debt   —   500 
Repayments of line of credit   —   (7,668)
Net cash provided by financing activities   517   880 
         
(Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash-equivalents   (387)   337 
         
Beginning cash and cash-equivalents   1,170   1,059 
Ending cash and cash-equivalents  $ 783  $ 1,396 
         
Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:         

Cash paid for income taxes  $ 2  $ 2 
Cash paid for interest  $ 120  $ 172 

         
Supplementary disclosure of noncash financing activities:         

Equipment acquired under capital lease  $ 163  $ 49 
 

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements  
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
(1)     Basis of Presentation
 
The condensed consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared by Giga-tronics Incorporated (the “Company”),
pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The consolidated results of operations for the interim
periods shown in this report are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the fiscal year. In the opinion of management, the
information contained herein reflects all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring entries) necessary to make the consolidated results
of operations for the interim periods a fair statement of such operations. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial
statements and footnotes thereto, included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for
the year ended March 28, 2015.
 
Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Giga-tronics and its wholly-owned subsidiary.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
 
Derivatives The Company’s derivatives are valued in accordance with US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures. Changes in fair values are reported in earnings as gain or loss on adjustment of derivative liability to fair value. 
 
New Accounting Standards In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No, 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): “Simplifying the Measurement of
Inventory”. Topic 330, Inventory, currently requires an entity to measure inventory at the lower of cost or market. Market could be
replacement cost, net realizable value, or net realizable value less an approximately normal profit margin. The amendments do not apply
to inventory that is measured using last-in, first-out (LIFO) or the retail inventory method. The amendments apply to all other inventory,
which includes inventory that is measured using first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost. An entity should measure in scope inventory at
the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less
reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. Subsequent measurement is unchanged for inventory measured
using LIFO or the retail inventory method. The amendments more closely align the measurement of inventory in GAAP with the
measurement of inventory in International Financial Reporting Standards. For public business entities, the amendments are effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years. For all other entities, the
amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2017. The amendments should be applied prospectively with earlier application permitted as of the beginning of an interim
or annual reporting period. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this accounting standard update may have on its financial
statements.
 
In August 2015, the FASB delayed the effective date of ASU 2015-14 – “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Topic 606).
The amendments in ASU 2015-14 defer the effective date of ASU 2014-09 for all entities by one year. Public business entities, certain
not-for-profit entities, and certain employee benefit plans should apply the guidance in ASU 2014-09 to annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. Earlier application is permitted only
as of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact this accounting standard update may have on its financial statements.
 
Also in August 2015, the FASB amended ASU 2015-03 – “ Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30) - Presentation and
Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements”, Previously, on April 7, 2015, the FASB
issued ASU 2015-03, Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which
required entities to present debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that
debt liability. The guidance in ASU 2015-03 (see paragraph 835-30-45-1A) does not address presentation or subsequent measurement of
debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit arrangements. Given the absence of authoritative guidance within ASU 2015-03 for debt
issuance costs related to line-of-credit arrangements, the SEC staff stated that they would not object to an entity deferring and presenting
debt issuance costs as an asset and subsequently amortizing the deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of-credit
arrangement, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit arrangement. For public business entities,
the guidance in the ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015.
The Company does not expect a material impact on its financial statements as a result of the adoption of ASU No. 2015-03.
 
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17 – Income Taxes (Topic 740): “Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes”.
Topic 740 is effective for public business entities for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016,
and interim periods within those annual periods. For all other entities, the amendments are effective for financial statements issued for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The
amendments may be applied prospectively to all deferred tax liabilities and assets or retrospectively to all periods presented. The
amendments in ASU 2015-17 eliminates the current requirement for organizations to present deferred tax liabilities and assets as current
and noncurrent in a classified balance sheet. Instead, organizations will be required to classify all deferred tax assets and liabilities as
noncurrent. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this accounting standard update may have on its financial statements.
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(2)      Going Concern and Management’s Plan
 
The Company incurred net losses of $602,000 for the third quarter of fiscal 2016 and $2.5 million for the first nine months of fiscal
2016, which have contributed to an accumulated deficit of $22.5 million as of December 26, 2015.
 
The Company has experienced delays in the development of features, orders, and shipments for the new Advanced Signal Generator.
These delays have significantly contributed to a decrease in working capital from $3.0 million at March 28, 2015, to $443,000 at
December 26, 2015. The new Advanced Signal Generator product has now shipped to several customers, but potential delays in the
development of features, longer than anticipated sales cycles, or the ability to continue shipments in volume quantities, could
significantly contribute to additional future losses. The losses in the first nine months of fiscal 2016 caused working capital restraints,
resulting in delayed payments to suppliers. Many suppliers have since halted the shipment of raw materials to the Company until
payments for past shipments are received.
 
The Company has lost, and is seeking to regain its AS9100C Certification that is commonly required in the aircraft manufacturing
industry. The Company’s Microsource division sells components used on military aircrafts to two major customers that have the
expectation the Company will have a Supplier Quality Management System certified to be AS9100C compliant. The Company has
worked with one of the major customers to allow continued shipping and orders during the lapse in certification by allowing the customer
to do its own quality inspections prior to the shipment of the Company’s products. The Company is working with the second customer
for a similar solution during the lapse in certification. The Company’s Giga-tronics division receives orders from time to time that require
a Supplier Quality Management System certified to be AS9100C. If the Company was unable to regain AS9100C certification, the lack
of certifications could result in a loss of revenue and have a material adverse effect on results of operations and working capital.
 
These matters raise substantial doubt as to the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern.
 
To address these matters, the Company’s management has taken several actions to provide additional liquidity and reduce costs and
expenses going forward. These actions are described in the following paragraphs. 
 

 

● On January 29, 2016, the Company completed the sale of approximately 2.7 million shares of Common Stock yielding gross
proceeds of approximately $3.5 million. Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $3.2 million. The sale included
Warrants to purchase approximately 2.4 million shares of Common Stock at $1.15 per share (see Note 17, Subsequent Events).
The proceeds will be used to pay suppliers past due accounts, and to fund the forecasted increases in sales and manufacturing
activities associated with the Advanced Signal Generator. There is no guarantee that payments to suppliers can be made in time
to allow for materials to arrive at the Company in time for anticipated fourth quarter fiscal 2016 shipments.
 

 

● On December 15, 2015, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Spanawave Corporation (“Spanawave”),
whereby Spanawave agreed to purchase the Giga-tronics’ Division product lines for its Power Meters, Amplifiers and Legacy
Signal Generators for $1.5 million with one-half of the payments ($750,000) expected to be received between June and July
2016 (see Note 16, Sale of Product Lines). The Company received $75,000 from Spanawave on January 4, 2016 upon the
initiation of data transfer to Spanawave. Proceeds from the asset sale will be used for working capital and general corporate
purposes.

 

 
● To assist with regaining AS9100C certification, the Company has hired a Director of Quality to lead the recertification process

and retained a consulting firm to advise the Company through the recertification process.
 

 
● In the first quarter of fiscal 2016, the Company’s Microsource business unit also finalized a multiyear $10.0 million YIG

production order (“YIG Production Order”). The Company expects to start shipping the YIG Production Order in the fall of
2016.

 

 

● To assist with the upfront purchases of inventory required for future product deliveries, the Company entered into advance
payment arrangements with two large customers, whereby the customers reimburse the Company for raw material purchases
prior to the shipment of the finished products. In the first three quarters of fiscal 2016, the Company entered into advance
payment arrangements totaling $2.0 million, and during the first three quarters of fiscal 2015 the Company entered into $1.4
million of advance payment arrangements. The Company will continue to seek similar terms in future agreements with these
customers and other customers.

  
Management will continue to review all aspects of the business in an effort to improve cash flow and reduce costs and expenses, while
continuing to invest, to the extent possible, in new product development for future revenue streams.
 
Management will also continue to seek additional working capital through debt, equity financing or possible product line sales, however
there are no assurances that such financings or sales will be available at all, or on terms acceptable to the Company.
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The current year loss has had a significant negative impact on the financial condition of the Company and raises substantial doubt about
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared assuming the
Company will continue as a going concern and do not include any adjustments that might result if the Company were unable to do so.    
 
(3)     Revenue Recognition
 
The Company records revenue when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed and
determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. This occurs when products are shipped or the customer accepts title transfer. If the
arrangement involves acceptance terms, the Company defers revenue until product acceptance is received. The Company limits the
amount of revenue recognition for delivered elements to the amount that is not contingent on the future delivery of products or services,
future performance obligations or subject to customer-specified return or refund privileges. The Company evaluates each deliverable in
an arrangement to determine whether they represent separate units of accounting. On certain large development contracts, revenue is
recognized upon achievement of substantive milestones. Determining whether a milestone is substantive is a matter of judgment and that
assessment is performed only at the inception of the arrangement. The consideration earned from the achievement of a milestone must
meet all of the following for the milestone to be considered substantive:

 
a. It is commensurate with either of the following:

1. The Company’s performance to achieve the milestone.
2. The enhancement of the value of the delivered item or items as a result of a specific outcome resulting from the

Company's performance to achieve the milestone.
b. It relates solely to past performance.
c. It is reasonable relative to all of the deliverables and payment terms (including other potential milestone consideration) within
the arrangement.

 
Milestones are agreed upon with the customer prior to the start of the contract and some milestones will be tied to product shipping while
others will be tied to design review. In fiscal 2015 the Company’s Microsource business unit received a $6.5 million order from a major
aerospace company for non-recurring engineering services to develop a variant of its high performance fast tuning YIG filters for an
aircraft platform and to deliver a limited number of flight-qualified prototype hardware units (the “NRE Order”) which is being
accounted for on a milestone basis. The Company considered factors such as estimated completion dates and product acceptance of the
order prior to accounting for the NRE Order as milestone revenue. During the three and nine month periods ended December 26, 2015
and December 27, 2014, revenue recognized on a milestone basis were $6,000 and $716,000, and $1.6 million and $4.5 million,
respectively.
 
On certain contracts with several of the Company’s significant customers, the Company receives payments in advance of manufacturing.
Advanced payments are recorded as deferred revenue until the revenue recognition criteria described above has been met.
 
Accounts receivable are stated at their net realizable value. The Company has estimated an allowance for uncollectable accounts based
on analysis of specifically identified accounts, outstanding receivables, consideration of the age of those receivables, the Company’s
historical collection experience, and adjustments for other factors management believes are necessary based on perceived credit risk.
  
The Company provides for estimated costs that may be incurred for product warranties at the time of shipment. The Company’s warranty
policy generally provides twelve to eighteen months depending on the customer. The estimated cost of warranty coverage is based on the
Company’s actual historical experience with its current products or similar products. For new products, the required reserve is based on
historical experience of similar products until such time as sufficient historical data has been collected on the new product. Adjustments
are made as new information becomes available.
 
(4)            Inventories
 
Inventories consisted of the following:
 

(In thousands)  
December 26,

2015   March 28, 2015  
Raw materials  $ 2,537  $ 1,631 
Work-in-progress   1,667   1,598 
Finished goods   22   15 
Demonstration inventory   85   121 
Total  $ 4,311  $ 3,365 
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(5)            Earnings/ Loss Per Share
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing net income or loss allocated to common shareholders by the weighted
average common shares outstanding during the period. Net income allocated to common shareholders excludes earnings allocated to
certain non-vested restricted stock awards that have non forfeitable dividend rights and therefore are considered participating securities.
Diluted EPS reflects the net incremental shares that would be issued if unvested restricted shares became vested and dilutive outstanding
stock options were exercised, using the treasury stock method. In the case of a net loss, it is assumed that no incremental shares would be
issued because they would be anti-dilutive. In addition, certain options are considered antidilutive because assumed proceeds from
exercise price, related tax benefits and average future compensation were greater than the weighted average number of options
outstanding multiplied by the average market price during the period. The shares used in per share computations are as follows:
 
 

  
Three Month Periods

Ended   
Nine Month Periods

Ended  

(In thousands except per share data)  

December
26,

2015   

December
27,

2014   

December
26,

2015   

December
27,

2014  
Net income/(loss)  $ (602)  $ 67  $ (2,537)  $ (283)
Earnings allocated to participating securities   —   (18)   —   — 
Net income/(loss) allocated to common shareholders  $ (602)  $ 49  $ (2,537)  $ (283)
                 
Weighted average:                 
Common shares outstanding   6,484   5,208   6,402   5,166 
Potential common shares   —   255   —   — 
Common shares assuming dilution   6,484   5,463   6,402   5,166 
                 
Net earnings/ loss per share - basic  $ (0.09)  $ 0.01  $ (0.40)  $ (0.05)
Net earnings/ loss per share - diluted  $ (0.09)  $ 0.01  $ (0.40)  $ (0.05)
Stock options not included in computation that could potentially dilute

EPS in the future       1,376       1,759 
Restricted stock awards not included in computation that could

potentially dilute EPS in the future
  245   187   245   237 

Convertible preferred stock not included in computation that could
potentially dilute EPS in the future   1,853   —   1,853   1,853 

Warrants not included in computation that could potentially dilute
EPS in the future   1,353   —   1,353   1,277 

  
The stock options, restricted stock, convertible preferred stock and warrants not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share
(EPS) for the three month period ended December 26, 2015 and nine month periods ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014
are a result of the Company’s net loss and, therefore, the effect of these instruments would be anti-dilutive. The restricted stock awards
and stock options not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three month period ended December 27, 2014 are
as a result of these instruments being anti-dilutive after application of the treasury method described above.
 
(6)     Share Based Compensation
 
The Company has established the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, which provide for the granting of options and restricted stock for up to
2,850,000 shares of common stock at 100% of fair market value at the date of grant, with each grant requiring approval by the Board of
Directors of the Company. Options granted generally vest in one or more installments in a four or five year period and must be exercised
while the grantee is employed by the Company or within a certain period after termination of employment. Options granted to employees
shall not have terms in excess of 10 years from the grant date. Holders of options may be granted stock appreciation rights (SARs), which
entitle them to surrender outstanding awards for a cash distribution under certain changes in ownership of the Company, as defined in the
stock option plan. As of December 26, 2015, no SARs have been granted under the option plan. As of December 26, 2015, the total
number of shares of common stock available for issuance is 958,827. All outstanding options have either a five year or a ten year life.
The Company records compensation cost associated with share-based compensation equivalent to the estimated fair value of the awards
over the requisite service period. There were 25,000 options granted in the third quarter of fiscal 2016 and for the first nine months of
fiscal 2016 with weighted average grant day fair value of $1.07. There were 35,000 options granted in the third quarter of fiscal 2015 and
264,500 options were granted in the first nine months of fiscal 2015 with weighted average grant date fair values of $1.23 and $1.68 per
share, respectively.
  
In calculating compensation related to stock option grants, the fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model and the following weighted average assumptions:
 

  
Three Month Periods

Ended   Nine Month Periods Ended  
December December December December



  
26,

2015   
27,

2014   
26,

2015   
27,

2014  
Dividend yield   —   —   —   — 
Expected volatility   97.18%  93.03%  97.18%  91.68%
Risk-free interest rate   1.56%  1.62%  1.56%  1.65%
Expected term (years)   8.36   8.36   8.36   8.36 
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The computation of expected volatility used in the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model is based on the historical volatility of the
Company’s share price. The expected term is estimated based on a review of historical employee exercise behavior with respect to option
grants. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rates with maturity similar to the expected term of the option on the date
of grant.
 
A summary of the changes in stock options outstanding for the nine month period ended December 26, 2015 and the fiscal year ended
March 28, 2015 is as follows:
 

  Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Terms
(Years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(in thousands)  

Outstanding at March 29, 2014   1,738,750  $ 1.53   6.8  $ 113 
Granted   306,500   2.01         
Exercised   90,000   1.80         
Forfeited / Expired   228,275   1.81         

Outstanding at March 28, 2015   1,726,975  $ 1.57   6.9  $ 219 
Granted   25,000   1.25         
Exercised   39,300   1.58         
Forfeited / Expired   114,625   2.20         

Outstanding at December 26, 2015   1,598,050  $ 1.52   7.05  $ 160 
                 
Exercisable at December 26, 2015   948,050  $ 1.46   6.62  $ 94 
                 
At December 26, 2015, expected to vest in the future   1,449,920  $ 1.51   6.95  $ 138 
   
As of December 26, 2015, there was $527,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested options. That cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.7 years. There were 73,000 options and 71,750 options that vested during
the quarter ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014, respectively. The total grant date fair value of options vested during the
quarters ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014 was $98,000 and $97,000, respectively. There were 364,150 and 231,150
options that vested during the nine month period ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014, respectively. The total grant date
fair value of options vested during the nine month periods ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014 was $383,000 and
$280,000, respectively. Options of 27,300 shares were exercised in the three month period ended December 26, 2015 and no shares were
exercised in the three month period ended December 27, 2014. Options of 39,300 shares were exercised in the nine month period ended
December 26, 2015 and 76,500 shares were exercised in the nine month period ended December 27, 2014. Share based compensation
cost recognized in operating results for the three month periods ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014 totaled $93,000 and
$103,000, respectively. Share based compensation cost recognized in operating results for the nine month periods ended December 26,
2015 and December 27, 2014 totaled $317,000 and $280,000, respectively.
 
Restricted Stock
 
No restricted awards were granted in the third quarter or the first nine months of fiscal 2016. The Company granted 187,000 shares of
restricted stock during the first nine months of fiscal 2015 to the members of the Board of Directors in lieu of cash compensation for
services to be performed in fiscal 2015. These restricted stock awards fully vested in the second quarter of fiscal 2016. The weighted
average grant date fair value was $2.47. The Company granted 50,000 shares of restricted stock outside the 2005 Plan in fiscal 2013 that
vested in the first quarter of fiscal 2016. The restricted stock awards are considered fixed awards as the number of shares and fair value
at the grant date is amortized over the requisite service period net of estimated forfeitures.
 
As of December 26, 2015, there was $60,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted awards. That cost is expected
to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.2 years. Compensation cost was recognized for the restricted and unrestricted stock
awards for the three and nine month periods ended December 26, 2015 totaling $90,000 and $400,000, respectively. Compensation cost
was recognized for the restricted and unrestricted stock awards for the three and nine month periods ended December 27, 2014 totaling
$131,000 and $265,000, respectively.  
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A summary of the changes in non-vested restricted stock awards outstanding at December 26, 2015 and at March 28, 2015 is as follows:
 

  Shares   

Wt. Avg.
Grant Date
Fair Value  

Non-Vested at March 29, 2014   121,500  $ 1.39 
Granted   432,000   2.11 
Vested   71,500   1.53 
Forfeited or cancelled   —   — 

Non-Vested at March 28, 2015   482,000  $ 2.02 
Granted   —   — 
Vested   237,000   2.20 
Forfeited or cancelled   —   — 

Non-Vested at December 26, 2015   245,000  $ 1.84 
 

  
(7)      Significant Customer and Industry Segment Information
 
The Company has two reportable segments: Giga-tronics Division and Microsource.
 
Giga-tronics Division produces a broad line of test and measurement equipment used in the development, test and maintenance of
wireless communications products and systems, flight navigational equipment, electronic defense systems and automatic testing systems
and designs, manufactures, and markets a line of switching devices that link together many specific purpose instruments that comprise
automatic test systems. These products are used primarily in the design, production, repair and maintenance of commercial
telecommunications, radar, and electronic warfare equipment. Microsource develops and manufactures a broad line of YIG (Yttrium,
Iron, Garnet) tuned oscillators, filters and microwave synthesizers, which are used by its customers in operational applications and in
manufacturing a wide variety of microwave instruments and devices.
 
The tables below present information for the three and nine month periods ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014.
 

      
Three Month Periods

Ended       
Three Month Periods

Ended  

(In thousands)  
Dec. 26,

2015   Dec. 26, 2015   
Dec. 27,

2014   Dec. 27 , 2014  

  Assets   Net Sales   
Net Income

(Loss)   Assets   Net Sales   
Net Income

(Loss)  
Giga-tronics Division  $ 6,639  $ 2,692  $ (1,306)  $ 5,431  $ 2,021  $ (1,266)
Microsource   2,044   1,791   704   2,876   2,488   1,333 
Total  $ 8,683  $ 4,483  $ (602)  $ 8,307  $ 4,509  $ 67 
 

  
 

      
Nine Month Periods

Ended       
Nine Month Periods

Ended  

(In thousands)  
Dec. 26,

2015   Dec. 26, 2015   
Dec. 27,

2014   Dec. 27, 2014  

  Assets   Net Sales   
Net Income

(Loss)   Assets   Net Sales   
Net Income

(Loss)  
Giga-tronics Division  $ 6,639  $ 6,908  $ (4,560)  $ 5,431  $ 6,638  $ (3,962)
Microsource   2,044   5,013   2,023   2,876   7,489   3,679 
Total  $ 8,683  $ 11,921  $ (2,537)  $ 8,307  $ 14,127  $ (283)
 
During the third quarter of fiscal 2016, one customer accounted for 40% of the Company’s consolidated revenues and was included in
the Microsource segment. A second customer accounted 21% of the Company’s consolidated revenue for the three months ended
December 26, 2015 and was primarily included in the Giga-tronics Division. During the third quarter of fiscal 2015, one customer
accounted for 36% of the Company’s consolidated revenue and was primarily included in the Microsource Division. A second customer
accounted for 16% and was included in the Giga-tronics Division.
 
During the first nine months of fiscal 2016, one customer accounted for 34% of the Company’s consolidated revenues and was primarily
included in the Microsource segment. A second customer accounted for 13% of the Company’s consolidated revenue for the nine months
ended December 26, 2015 and was included in the Giga-tronics Division. One customer accounted for 32% of the Company’s
consolidated revenues for the nine months ended December 27, 2014 and was primarily included in the Microsource segment. A second
customer accounted for 19% of the Company’s consolidated revenues for the nine months ended December 27, 2014 and was included in
the Giga-tronics Division.
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(8)     Income Taxes
 
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method as codified in Topic 740. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards.
 
The Company did not incur tax expense for the three months ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014. The Company’s tax
expense for the nine months ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014 was $2,000 and $47,000, respectively. The effective tax
rate for the three months ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014 was 0% primarily due to a valuation allowance recorded
against the net deferred tax asset balance. The effective tax rate for the nine months ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014
was 0% and 20% primarily due to a valuation allowance recorded against the net deferred tax asset balance. 
 
As of December 26, 2015 and March 28, 2015, the Company had recorded $93,000 for unrecognized tax benefits related to uncertain tax
positions. The unrecognized tax benefit is netted against the non-current deferred tax asset on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
Company does not expect the liability for unrecognized tax benefits to change materially within the next 12 months. The Company does
have a California Franchise Tax Board audit that is currently in process. The Company is working with the California Franchise Tax
Board to resolve all audit issues and does not believe any material taxes, penalties and fees are due. However, as a result of the ongoing
examination, the Company recorded an estimated associated tax liability of $45,000 in the first quarter of fiscal 2015.
 
(9)        Warranty Obligations
 
The Company records a provision in cost of sales for estimated warranty obligations at the date products are sold. Adjustments are made
as new information becomes available. The following provides a reconciliation of changes in the Company’s warranty reserve. The
Company provides no other guarantees.
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(In thousands)  

December
26,

2015   

December
27,

2014   

December
26,

2015   

December
27,

2014  
Balance at beginning of period  $ 67  $ 73  $ 76  $ 61 
Provision, net   14   29   40   56 
Warranty costs incurred   (10)   (24)   (45)   (39)
Balance at end of period  $ 71  $ 78  $ 71  $ 78 
 
(10)       Fair Value
 

Fair Value Pursuant to the accounting guidance for fair value measurement and its subsequent updates, fair value is defined as the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The accounting guidance establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that
minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring the use of observable market data when available. Observable inputs are inputs
that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on active market data. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect
the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available in the
circumstances.  
 

The fair value hierarchy is broken down into the three input levels summarized below:
 

    • Level 1 —Valuations are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and readily accessible by
us at the reporting date. Examples of assets and liabilities utilizing Level 1 inputs are certain money market funds, U.S.
Treasuries and trading securities with quoted prices on active markets.

 
  • Level 2 —Valuations based on inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or

indirectly in active markets. Examples of assets and liabilities utilizing Level 2 inputs are U.S. government agency bonds,
corporate bonds, commercial paper, certificates of deposit and over-the- counter derivatives.

 
  • Level 3 —Valuations based on unobservable inputs in which there are little or no market data, which require us to develop our

own assumptions.
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The carrying amounts of the Company’s cash and cash-equivalents and line of credit approximate their fair values at each balance sheet
date due to the short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values of term debt are based on the present value of expected
future cash flows and assumptions about current interest rates and the creditworthiness of the Company (Level 3). At December 26, 2015
and March 28, 2015, the carrying amounts of the Company’s term debt totaled $575,000 and $1.1 million respectively and the estimated
fair value totaled $590,000 and $1.2 million respectively. The fair value was calculated using a discounted cash flow model and utilized
a 20% and 18% discount rate respectively. The rates are commensurate with market rates given the remaining term, principal repayment
schedule, the Company’s creditworthiness and outstanding loan balance.
 
The Company’s derivative warrant liability is measured at fair value on a recurring basis and is categorized as Level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy. The derivative warrant liability is valued using the Monte Carlo simulation model, using the following assumptions as of
December 26, 2015: (i) the remaining expected life of 3.3 years, (ii) the Company’s historical volatility rate of 116.1%, (iii) risk-free
interest rate of 1.38%, and (iv) a discount rate of twenty percent.
 
The Company’s assets and liabilities that are recognized and measured at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows:
 

Fair Value Measurements as of Dec. 26,
2015
(In Thousands) :             
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Warrant Liability  $ —   —  $ 392 

Total  $ —   —  $ 392 
 

Fair Value Measurements as of March 28,
2015
( In Thousands):             
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Warrant Liability  $ —   —  $ 341 

Total  $ —  $ —  $ 341 
 
There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 for the three and nine month periods ended December 26, 2015 and the
twelve month periods ended March 28, 2015.  
 
The table below summarizes changes in gains and losses recorded in earnings for Level 3 assets and liabilities that are still held at
December 26, 2015:
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(In thousands)  

December
26,

2015   

December
27,

2014   

December
26,

2015   

December
27,

2014  
Warrant liability at beginning of period  $ 294  $ 342  $ 341  $ 251 
Net gains (recorded in other income/expense)   —   (107)   —   (16)
Losses (recorded in other income/expense)   98   —   51   — 
Warrant liability at end of period  $ 392  $ 235  $ 392  $ 235 
 
There were no assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis and there were no assets or liabilities measured on a non-recurring basis
at December 26, 2015 and March 28, 2015.
 
The following table presents quantitative information about recurring Level 3 fair value measurements at December 26, 2015 and March
28, 2015:
 

December 26, 2015  Valuation Technique(s)  Unobservable Input     
Warrant liability  Monte Carlo  Discount rate   20%  

 
March 28, 2015  Valuation Techniques(s)  Unobservable Input     
Warrant liability  Discounted cash flow  Discount rate   18%  

 
The discount rate of twenty percent is management’s estimate of the current cost of capital given the Company’s credit worthiness. A
significant increase in the discount rate would significantly decrease the fair value, but the magnitude of this decrease would be less
significant in a scenario where the Company’s stock price is significantly higher than the exercise price since the holder’s option to take a
cash payment at maturity represents a smaller component of the total fair value when the Company’s stock price is higher. The Monte
Carlo simulation model simulated the Company’s stock price through the maturity date of March 31, 2019. At the end of the simulated
period, the value of the warrant was determined based on the greater of (1) the net share settlement value, (2) the net exercise value, or
(3) the fixed cash put value.
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(11)     Accounts Receivable Line of Credit
 
On June 1, 2015 the Company entered into a $2.5 million Revolving Accounts Receivable Line of Credit agreement with Bridge Bank.
The credit facility agreement replaced the line of credit with SVB which expired April 15, 2015. The agreement provides for a maximum
borrowing capacity of $2.5 million of which $2.0 million is subject to a borrowing base calculation and $500,000 is non-formula based.
 
The loan is secured by all assets of the Company including intellectual property and general intangibles and provides for a borrowing
capacity equal to 80% of eligible accounts receivable. The loan matures on May 6, 2017 and bears an interest rate, equal to 1.5% over the
bank’s prime rate of interest (which was 3.25% at the date of closing resulting in an interest rate of 4.75%). Interest is payable monthly
with principal due upon maturity. The Company paid a commitment fee of $12,500, and an additional $12,500 is due on the first
anniversary of the loan closing. The loan agreement contains financial and non-financial covenants that are customary for this type of
lending and includes a covenant to maintain an asset coverage ratio of at least 135% (defined as unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
maintained with Bridge Bank, plus eligible accounts receivable aged less than 90 days from the invoice date, divided by the total amount
of outstanding principal of all obligations under the loan agreement). As of December 26, 2015, the Company was in compliance with all
the financial covenants under the agreement. The line of credit requires a lockbox arrangement, which provides for receipts to be swept
daily to reduce borrowings outstanding at the discretion of Bridge Bank. This arrangement, combined with the existence of the subjective
acceleration clause in the line of credit agreement, necessitates the line of credit be classified as a current liability on the balance sheet.
The acceleration clause allows for amounts due under the facility to become immediately due in the event of a material adverse change in
the Company’s business condition (financial or otherwise), operations, properties or prospects, or ability to repay the credit based on the
lender's judgment. As of December 26, 2015, the Company’s total outstanding borrowings and remaining borrowing capacity under the
Bridge Bank line of credit were $1.2 million and $895,000, respectively.
 
(12)      Term Loan, Revolving Line of Credit and Warrants
 
On March 13, 2014 the Company entered into a three year, $2.0 million term loan agreement with PFG under which the Company
received $1.0 million on March 14, 2014. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company had the ability to borrow an additional $1.0 million
following the Company’s achievement of certain performance milestones which included achieving $7.5 million in net sales during the
first half of fiscal 2015 and two consecutive quarters of net income greater than zero during fiscal 2015.
  
On June 16, 2014, the Company amended its loan agreement with PFG (the “Amendment”). Under the terms of the Amendment, PFG
made a revolving credit line available to Giga-tronics in the amount of $500,000, and the Company borrowed the entire amount on June
17, 2014. The revolving line had a 33 month term. The Amendment also reduced the Company’s potential future borrowing availability
under the PFG Loan agreement from $1.0 million to $500,000. The interest on the PFG revolving credit line was fixed, calculated on a
daily basis at a rate of 12.50% per annum. The Company was allowed to prepay the loan at any time prior to its March 13, 2017 maturity
date without a penalty. Beginning in October 2014, PFG had the right to convert the $500,000 revolving loan into a term loan and require
principal payments to be amortized over the remaining loan term. On April 25, 2015, PFG exercised this right, and fully amortizing
principal and interest payments began in May 2015.
  
On June 3, 2015, and following the Company’s new line of credit agreement with Bridge Bank (see Note 11, Accounts Receivable Line
of Credit), the Company’s loan agreement with PFG was further amended (the “Second Amendment”). The Second Amendment
cancelled the Company’s $500,000 of borrowing availability under the June 2014 Amendment and required the Company to pay
PFG $150,000 towards its existing $500,000 outstanding balance under the revolving line of credit, in which the Company paid in July
2015. The Company also agreed to pay PFG an additional $10,000 per month towards its remaining credit line balance until repaid,
followed by like payments towards its term loan balance until repaid. The Company expects to pay off the credit line by April 1, 2016.
As of December 26, 2015, the Company’s total outstanding principal balance under the revolving credit line loan was $120,000.
 
Interest on the initial $1.0 million term loan is fixed at 9.75% and required monthly interest only payments during the first nine months
of the agreement followed by monthly principal and interest payments over the remaining 30 months. The Company may prepay the
loan at any time prior to maturity by paying all future scheduled principal and interest payments. As of December 26, 2015, the
Company’s total outstanding principal balance under the PFG term loan was $500,000.  
   
The PFG loan is secured by all of the assets of the Company under a lien that is junior to the Bridge Bank debt agreement described in
Note 11, and limits borrowing under the Bridge Bank credit line to $2.5 million. The Company paid a loan fee of $30,000 upon the initial
draw (“First Draw”), $15,000 for the June 2014 Amendment and $5,000 for the Second Amendment. The loan fees paid are recorded as
prepaid expenses and amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the PFG amended loan agreement.  
  
The PFG loan agreement contains financial covenants associated with the Company achieving minimum quarterly net sales and
maintaining a minimum monthly shareholders’ equity. In the event of default by the Company, all or any part of the Company’s
obligations to PFG could become immediately due. As of the quarter ended December 26, 2015, the Company was in compliance with
the financial covenant under the agreement. 
 
The loan agreement also provided for the issuance of warrants convertible into 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, of
which 180,000 were exercisable upon receipt of the initial $1.0 million from the First Draw, and 80,000 became exercisable with the
Amendment. The Second Amendment terminated the additional 40,000 warrants that would have become exercisable as part of
cancelling the remaining $500,000 that was available under the Amendment. Each warrant issued under the loan agreement has a term of
five years from the First Draw and an exercise price of $1.42 which was equal to the average NASDAQ closing price of the Company’s



common stock for the ten trading days prior to the First Draw.
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If the warrants are not exercised before expiration on March 13, 2019, the Company would be required to pay PFG $150,000 and
$67,000 as settlement for warrants associated with the First Draw and the Amendment, respectively. The warrants could be settled for
cash at an earlier date in the event of any acquisition or other change in control of the Company, future public issuance of Company
securities or liquidation (or substantially similar event) of the Company. The Company currently has no plans for any of the
aforementioned events, and as a result, the cash payment date is estimated to be the expiration date unless warrants are exercised before
then. The warrants have the characteristics of both debt and equity and are accounted for as a derivative liability measured at fair value
each reporting period with the change in fair value recorded in earnings. The initial fair value of the warrants associated with the First
Draw and Amendment were $128,000 and $123,000, respectively.
 
As of December 26, 2015, the estimated fair values of the derivative liabilities associated with the warrants issued in connection with the
First Draw and Amendment were $235,000 and $157,000, respectively, for a combined value of $392,000. The change in the fair value
of the warrant liability totaled $98,000 for the three month period ended December 26, 2015 and is reported in the accompanying
statement of operations as a loss on adjustment of derivative liability to fair value.
  
The initial $1.0 million in proceeds under the term loan agreement were allocated between the PFG Loan and the warrants based on their
relative fair values on the date of issuance which resulted in initial carrying values of $822,000 and $178,000, respectively. The resulting
discount of $178,000 on the PFG Loan is being accreted to interest expense under the effective interest method over the three-year term
of the PFG Loan.
  
The proceeds from the $500,000 credit line issued in connection with the Amendment were allocated between the PFG Loan and the
warrants based on their relative fair values on the date of issuance which resulted in initial carrying values of $365,000 and $135,000,
respectively. The resulting discounts of $135,000 on the PFG Loan is being accreted to interest expense under the effective interest
method over the remaining term of the PFG Loan.
 
For the three month periods ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014, the Company recorded accretion of discount expense
associated with the PFG Loan of $34,000 and $45,000 respectively. For the nine month period ended December 26, 2015 and December
27, 2014, the Company recorded accretion of discount expense associated with the PFG Loan of $140,000 and $115,000 respectively. 
 
(13)      Series B, C, D Convertible Voting Perpetual Preferred Stock and Warrants
   
On November 10, 2011, the Company received $2,199,000 in cash proceeds from Alara Capital AVI II, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (the “Investor”), an investment vehicle sponsored by Active Value Investors, LLC, under a Securities Purchase
Agreement entered into on October 31, 2011. Under the terms of the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company issued 9,997 shares
of its Series B Convertible Voting Perpetual Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock”) to the Investor at a price of $220 per share. The
Company has recorded $2.0 million as Series B Preferred Stock on the consolidated balance sheet which is net of stock offering costs of
approximately $202,000 and represents the value attributable to both the convertible preferred stock and warrants issued to the Investor.
After considering the value of the warrants, the effective conversion price of the preferred stock was greater than the common stock price
on date of issue and therefore no beneficial conversion feature was present. 
 
On February 19, 2013, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement pursuant to which it agreed to sell 3,424.65 shares of
its Series C Convertible Voting Perpetual Preferred Stock (“Series C Preferred Stock”) to the Investor, for aggregate consideration of
$500,000, which is approximately $146.00 per share. The Company has recorded $457,000 as Series C Preferred Stock on the
consolidated balance sheet, which is net of stock offering costs of approximately $43,000.After considering the reduction in the value of
the warrant, the effective conversion price of the preferred stock was greater than the common stock price on the date of issue and
therefore no beneficial conversion feature was present.
 
On July 8, 2013 the Company received $817,000 in net cash proceeds from the Investor under a Securities Purchase Agreement. The
Company sold to the Investor 5,111.86 shares of its Series D Convertible Voting Perpetual Preferred Stock (Series D Preferred Stock)
and a warrant to purchase up to 511,186 additional shares of common stock at the price of $1.43 per share. The allocation of the
$858,000 in gross proceeds from issuance of Series D Preferred Stock based on the relative fair values resulted in an allocation of
$498,000 (which was recorded net of $41,000 of issuance costs) to Series D Preferred Stock and $360,000 to Common Stock. In
addition, because the effective conversion rate based on the $498,000 allocated to Series D Preferred Stock was $0.97 per common share
which was less than the Company’s stock price on the date of issuance, a beneficial conversion feature was present at the issuance date.
The beneficial conversion feature totaled$238,000 and was recorded as an increase of common stock and an increase to accumulated
deficit.
 
Each share of Series B, Series C and Series D Preferred Stock is convertible into one hundred shares of the Company’s common stock.
The investor also held warrants to purchase 1,017,405 shares at an exercise price of $1.43 per share which were exercised in February and
May 2015 as discussed in Note 14, Exercise of Series C and Series D Warrants.
 

 
16



 
 
The table below presents information as of December 26, 2015 and March 28, 2015. 
 
Preferred Stock as of December 26, 2015 and March 28, 2015    
 

  
Designated
Shares   

Shares
Issued   

Shares
Outstanding  

 
Liquidation
Preference
(in thousands)

 

Series B   10,000.00   9,997.00   9,997.00  $ 2,309 
Series C   3,500.00   3,424.65   3,424.65   500 
Series D   6,000.00   5,111.86   5,111.86   731 
Total   19,500.00   18,533.51   18,533.51  $ 3,540 
 
(14) Exercise of Series C and Series D Warrants
 
On February 16, 2015, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement and Warrant Agreement with Alara Capital AVI II,
LLC in which the Company received total gross cash proceeds of approximately $1.5 million. Funds were received from Alara in
separate closings dated February 16, 2015 and February 23, 2015 in which Alara exercised a total of 1,002,818 of its existing Series C and
Series D warrants to purchase common shares, all of which had an exercise price of $1.43 per share for total cash proceeds of $1,434,000,
which was recorded net of $42,000 of stock issuance costs. As part of the consideration for this exercise, the Company sold to Alara two
new warrants (“new Warrants”) to purchase an additional 898,634 and 194,437 common shares at an exercise price of $1.78 and $1.76
per share, respectively, for a total purchase price of $137,000 or $0.125 per share. The new warrants have a term of five years and may be
paid in cash or through a cashless net share settlement. The Company and Alara amended the remaining 14,587 warrants as part of the
February closings. On May 14, 2015, Alara exercised the remaining 14,587 warrants by acquiring 7,216 of shares of the Company’s
common stock through a cashless net share settlement. The Company recorded the issuance of the new Warrants using their estimated
fair value on the date of issuance. The Company estimated the fair value of the new Warrants using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model with the following assumptions: expected term of 5 years, a risk-free interest rate of 1.54%, expected volatility of 90% and 0%
expected dividend yield. The resulting $1.2 million from the issuance of the new Warrants was recorded as a charge to other expense in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015.
 
(15)      Software Development Costs
 
On September 3, 2015, the Company entered into a software development agreement with a major aerospace and defense company
whereby the aerospace company would develop and license its simulation software to the Company. The simulation software (also called
Open Loop Simulator or OLS technology) is currently the aerospace company’s intellectual property. The OLS technology generates
threat simulations and enables various hardware to generate signals for performing threat analysis on systems under test. The Company
intends to license the OLS software as a bundled or integrated solution with its Advanced Signal Generator system. The Company is
obligated to pay the aerospace company software development costs and fees for OLS of $919,000 in the aggregate, which is payable in
monthly installments as the work is performed by the aerospace company through August 2016. The OLS technology is a perpetual
license agreement that may be terminated by the Company at any time as long as the Company provides a notice to the aerospace
company and pays for the development costs incurred through the notice termination date. The Company is also obligated to pay
royalties to the aerospace company on net sales of its Advanced Signal Generator product sold with the OLS software equal to a
percentage of net sales price of each ASG system sold and subject to certain minimums. The Company expenses research and
development costs as they are incurred. Development costs of computer software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed are subject to
capitalization beginning when a product’s technological feasibility has been established and ending when a product is available for
general release to customers. Capitalized software costs for the quarter ended December 26, 2015 were $440,000. The company intends
to begin amortizing the costs of capitalized software to cost of sales once the product is released to its customers.
 
(16) Sale of Product Lines
 
On December 15, 2015, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Spanawave Corporation (“Spanawave”), whereby
Spanawave agreed to purchase the Giga-tronics’ Division product lines for its Power Meters, Amplifiers and Legacy Signal Generators
for $1.5 million. The product lines will transfer to Spanawave sequentially in phases beginning with certain sensor and amplifier
products effective the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016, with the final product line transfer (legacy Signal Generators) estimated to be
completed by August 2016. On January 4, 2016, the Company received $75,000 upon the initiation of data transfer to Spanawave. The
Company expects to receive one-half of the payments ($750,000) between June and July 2016. In addition, the Company will sell to
Spanawave existing inventory for these products in phases. The Company will continue to manufacture the related products until the
respective product line transfer is complete. These product lines accounted for total revenues of $421,000 and $1.4 million respectively,
for the three and nine month periods ended December 26, 2015. For the three and nine month periods ended December 27, 2014,
revenues for the product lines were $749,000 and $1.6 million respectively. Due to the low profit margins on these product lines, the
contribution to pre-tax results for the three and nine month periods ended December 26, 2015 and December 27, 2014 were immaterial to
the consolidated financial statements. 
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(17) Subsequent Event
 
On January 19, 2016, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement for the sale of 2,787,872 Units, each consisting of one
share of common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.75 shares of common stock, to approximately 20 private investors. The purchase
price for each Unit was $1.24375. Gross proceeds were approximately $3.5 million. Net proceeds to the Company after fees was
approximately $3.2 million. The portion of the purchase price attributable to the common shares included in each Unit was $1.15, the
consolidated closing bid price for the Company’s common stock on January 15, 2016. The warrant price was $.09375 per Unit
(equivalent to $0.125 per whole warrant share), with an exercise price of $1.15 per share. The term of the warrants is five years from the
date of completion of the transaction. The Company expects to use the proceeds for working capital and general corporate purposes.   
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ITEM 2 - MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
 
The forward-looking statements included in this report including, without limitation, statements containing the words "believes",
"anticipates", "estimates", "expects", "intends" and words of similar import, which reflect management’s best judgment based on factors
currently known, involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements as a result of a number of factors, including but not limited to those listed in Giga-tronics’ Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended March 28, 2015 Part I, under the heading “Risk Factors”, and Part II, under the heading “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations”.
 
Overview
 
Giga-tronics produces instruments, subsystems and sophisticated microwave components that have broad applications in both defense
electronics and wireless telecommunications. The Company has two reporting segments: Giga-tronics Division and Microsource.
 

 

● Giga-tronics Division produces a broad line of test and measurement equipment used in the development, test and maintenance of
wireless communications products and systems, flight navigational equipment, electronic defense systems and automatic testing
systems and designs, manufactures, and markets a line of switching devices that link together many specific purpose instruments
that comprise automatic test systems. These products are used primarily in the design, production, repair and maintenance of
commercial telecommunications, radar, and electronic warfare equipment. 

 

 
● Microsource develops and manufactures a broad line of YIG (Yttrium, Iron, Garnet) tuned oscillators, filters and microwave

synthesizers, which are used by its customers in operational applications and in manufacturing a wide variety of microwave
instruments and devices.

In an effort to improve profitability, the Company has changed the focus of the Giga-tronics Division. The Company has de-emphasized
some of its legacy products in the Giga-tronics Division because of concerns over low margins and limited growth prospects. The
Company sold its SCPM line to Teradyne in 2013. On December 15, 2015, the Company entered into an agreement for the sale of much of
its power meter, amplifier and legacy signal generator business to Spanawave Corporation. See footnote 16 to the financial statements
above. The Company will look for other opportunities in this direction.
 
In place of these legacy products, the Company has invested substantially in research and development of a new product line known in its
early development stage as “Hydra” and now as known as its Advanced Signal Generator system or ASG. ASG has prospects for higher
margins and greater growth than the de-emphasized legacy product lines. However, realization of the potential of ASG will require
resolution of technical issues, broad customer acceptance and further investment in research, marketing and production at greater scale.
 
The Company will also remain focused on the Microsource high performance YIG filter business used in fighter jet radars. In recent years
the Company has been producing these YIG filters for two fighter jet platforms, and will start production for a third platform in fiscal year
2017.
 
Results of Operations
 
The Giga-tronics Division received orders of $1.5 million and $2.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2016 and 2015, respectively, from
the United States Navy (“Navy”) for its Model 8003 Precision Scalar Analyzers and associated accessories (“8003”). In the first half of
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015 the Navy was a significant customer for the Giga-tronics Division. The Company shipped all of the $1.5
million order in the first half of fiscal 2016, and the $2.4 million order in the first half of fiscal 2015.
 
To date, the Company has received $3.3 million of orders for the new Advance Signal Generator, of which, $1.9 million has shipped to
several customers. Orders and shipments for this new product may not be consistent when comparing one fiscal period to another due to
delays in the development of features, longer than anticipated sales cycles, or the ability to ship volume quantities.
  
In the first quarter of fiscal 2016, the Company’s Microsource division received a $3.0 million order (“Ongoing Production Order”) for its
high performance YIG filters from a major aerospace company extending its ongoing production of the filters for the aerospace company.
The Company started shipments for this order in the second quarter of fiscal 2016, and expects to complete it in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2016.
  
In the first quarter of fiscal 2015 the Microsource business unit received a $6.2 million order (“NRE Order”) for non-recurring engineering
and for delivery of a limited number of flight-qualified prototype hardware from a major aerospace company to develop a variant of its
high performance fast tuning YIG filters for an aircraft platform. In the first quarter of fiscal 2016 the Microsource business unit also
finalized an associated multiyear $10.0 million YIG production order (“YIG Production Order”). The Company expects to start shipping
the YIG Production Order in the fall of 2016.
  
In the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2016 and 2015 almost all of the orders and sales for the Microsource business unit were
from two large aerospace customers. Almost all of the orders and revenue for the Microsource business is associated with programs for
retrofitting radar filter components on existing military aircraft, and radar filter components for military aircraft being manufactured. The
timing of orders and milestone achievements associated with these customers causes significant differences in orders, sales, deferred



revenue, inventory and cash flow when comparing one fiscal period to another.
 
The Microsource NRE Order received in the first quarter of fiscal 2015 resulted in significant improvements to sales and results from
operations in Fiscal 2015 compared to the prior year. With a majority of the associated services from the NRE Order being completed in
fiscal 2015, and the YIG Production Order not scheduled to ship until fiscal 2017, the Company has experienced a decrease in sales and
results from operations in fiscal 2016.
 
New orders received by segment are as follows:
 
NEW ORDERS             
  Three Month Periods Ended      

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 26,

2015   
December 27,

2014   % change  
Giga-tronics Division  $ 2,875  $ 2,484   16%
Microsource   5   1,555   (100%)
Total  $ 2,880  $ 4,039   (29%)
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  Nine Month Periods Ended      

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 26,

2015   
December 27,

2014   % change  
Giga-tronics Division  $ 7,164  $ 7,037   2%
Microsource   13,178   8,130   62%
Total  $ 20,342  $ 15,167   34%
 
New orders received in the third quarter of fiscal 2016 decreased by 29% to $2.9 million from the $4.0 million received in the third
quarter of fiscal 2015. New orders for the Giga-tronics Division saw a $391,000 increase in orders due to a $1.4 million order for the new
Advanced Signal Generator, partially offset by a decrease in orders for legacy Signal Generator products. New orders for the Microsource
Division decreased due to the timing of large Microsource orders for radar filter components from two aerospace companies.
 
New orders received in the first nine months of fiscal 2016 increased 34% to $20.3 million from the $15.2 million received in the first nine
months of fiscal 2015. The Microsource business unit saw a 62% increase in the first nine months of fiscal 2016 due to the receipt of the
$10.0 million YIG Production Order and the $3.0 million Ongoing Production Order, compared to the $6.2 million NRE Order received in
the first nine months of fiscal 2015. The increase in the Giga-tronics Division was primarily due to the $1.4 million increase in sales
associated with the Advanced Signal Generator, partially offset by a $906,000 decrease in 8003 orders from the Navy. 
 
The following table shows order backlog and related information at the end of the respective periods:
 
BACKLOG             

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 26,

2015   
December 27,

2014   % change  
Backlog of unfilled orders at end of period:             
Giga-tronics Division  $ 2,527  $ 2,698   (6%)
Microsource   11,623   5,012   132%
Total  $ 14,150  $ 7,710   84%
             
Backlog of unfilled orders shippable within one year:             
Giga-tronics Division  $ 2,527  $ 2,698   (6%)
Microsource   3,263   3,939   (17%)
Total  $ 5,790  $ 6,637   (13%)
 
Backlog at the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2016 increased 84% compared to the end of the same period last year. The increase in
backlog is primarily due to the $10.0 million YIG Production Order the Microsource business unit received in the first quarter of fiscal
2016.
  
The allocation of net sales was as follows for the periods shown:
 
ALLOCATION OF NET SALES             
  Three Month Periods Ended      

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 26,

2015   
December 27,

2014   % change  
Giga-tronics Division  $ 2,692  $ 2,021   33%
Microsource   1,791   2,488   (28%)
Total  $ 4,483  $ 4,509   (1%)
 
  Nine Month Periods Ended      

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 26,

2015   
December 27,

2014   % change  
Giga-tronics Division  $ 6,908  $ 6,638   4%
Microsource   5,013   7,489   (33%)
Total  $ 11,921  $ 14,127   (16%)
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Net sales in the third quarter of fiscal 2016 were $4.5 million, a 1% decrease from fiscal 2015. Net sales for the Giga-tronics Division
increased 33% primarily due to the fulfillment of $1.3 million of sales associated with the shipment of the Advanced Signal Generator,
partially offset by decreases in legacy product sales. Net sales for Microsource decreased 28% primarily due to the winding down of the
NRE Order with a large aerospace company.   
 
Net sales in the first nine months of fiscal 2016 decreased 16% to $11.9 million from the $14.1 million in the first nine months of fiscal
2015. Net sales for the Giga-tronics Division increased 4% primarily due to the $1.4 million increase in sales associated with the Advanced
Signal Generator and $406,000 increase associated with the Switching product, partially offset by a $906,000 decrease in 8003 orders from
the Navy. Net sales for Microsource decreased 33% primarily due to the winding down of the NRE Order with a large aerospace
company.   
 
Cost of sales was as follows for the periods shown:
 
COST OF SALES             
  Three Month Periods Ended      

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 26,

2015   
December 27,

2014   % change  
Cost of sales  $ 2,868  $ 2,637   9%
 
  Nine Month Periods Ended      

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 27,

2015   
December 27,

2014   % change  
Cost of sales  $ 7,701  $ 8,101   (5%)
 
Cost of sales as a percentage of sales increased for the third quarter of fiscal 2016 to 64.0% compared to 58.5% for the third quarter of
fiscal 2015. Cost of sales as a percentage of sales also increased for the nine months ended December 26, 2015 to 64.6% compared to
57.3% from the first nine months of fiscal 2015. The percentage increases were primarily due to the decrease in net sales associated with
the Microsource NRE Order, which had a lower cost of sales compared to product sales.
 
Operating expenses were as follows for the periods shown:
 
OPERATING EXPENSES             
  Three Month Periods Ended      

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 26,

2015   
December 27,

2014   % change  
Engineering  $ 614  $ 672   (9%)
Selling, general and administrative   1,417   1,133   25%
Total  $ 2,031  $ 1,805   13%
 
  Nine Month Periods Ended      

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 26,

2015   
December 27,

2014   % change  
Engineering  $ 2,179  $ 2,563   (15%)
Selling, general and administrative   4,221   3,401   24%
Total  $ 6,400  $ 5,964   7%
    
Operating expenses increased 13% or $226,000 in the third quarter of fiscal 2016 over fiscal 2015. Engineering expenses decreased
$58,000 primarily due to less development associated with the Advanced Signal Generator as it moved to production. Selling, general and
administrative expenses increased $284,000 primarily due to a $168,000 increase in sales and marketing efforts associated with the
Advanced Signal Generator, and a $104,000 increase in outside services related to financial services and management consulting.
 
Operating expenses increased 7% or $436,000 in the first nine months of fiscal 2016 over fiscal 2015. Engineering expenses decreased
$384,000 primarily due to development costs incurred in fiscal 2015 associated with the Company’s new 4600 Switch product that is now
shipping. Selling, general and administrative increased by $820,000 primarily due to a $303,000 increase in sales and marketing efforts
associated with the Advanced Signal Generator, a $186,000 increase in non-cash stock based compensation, a $131,000 increase in officer
salaries, and a $110,000 increase in outside services related to financial services and management consulting.
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Derivative Liability
 
The Company recorded a loss of $98,000 and $51,000 for the three and nine month periods ended December 26, 2015 respectively, related
to revaluation of the derivative liability, associated with warrants issued with the PFG Loan (see Note 12, Term Loan, Revolving Line of
Credit and Warrants).
 
Interest Expense
 
Total interest expense for the third quarter of fiscal 2016 was $88,000, a decrease of $19,000 over the third quarter of fiscal 2015. Total
interest expense for the first nine months of fiscal 2016 was $304,000, a decrease of $10,000 over the first nine months of fiscal 2015.
Interest expense decreased in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2016 over fiscal 2015 primarily due to the lower principal
balances in both loans with PFG.
 
Net Income and Net Loss
 
The Microsource NRE Order received in the first quarter of fiscal 2015 resulted in significant improvements to sales and results from
operations when compared to the prior year. With a majority of the associated services from the NRE Order being completed in fiscal
2015, and the associated product production starting in fiscal 2017, the Company has experienced an overall decrease in sales and results
from operations in fiscal 2016.
 
The Company recorded a net loss of $602,000 for the third quarter of fiscal 2016 compared with net income of $67,000 in the third quarter
of fiscal 2015. The loss in the third quarter of fiscal 2016 compared to the income in the third quarter of fiscal 2015 was primarily due to a
$257,000 decrease in gross margins, a $226,000 increase in operating expenses, and a $98,000 loss on the adjustment of derivative liability
to fair value compared to a $107,000 gain in third quarter of fiscal 2015.
 
The Company recorded a net loss of $2.5 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2016 compared with a net loss of $283,000 during the
first nine months of fiscal 2015. The higher net loss in the first nine months of fiscal 2016 compared to the first nine months of fiscal 2015
was primarily due to decreased revenues associated with the Microsource NRE Order and the increase in operating expenses discussed
above.
 
Financial Condition and Liquidity
 
As of December 26, 2015, Giga-tronics had $783,000 in cash and cash equivalents, compared to $1.2 million as of March 28, 2015.
 
Working capital at December 26, 2015 and March 28, 2015 was $443,000 and $3.0 million, respectively. The current ratio (current assets
divided by current liabilities) at December 26, 2015 was 1.06 compared to 1.69 on March 28, 2015. 
 
Cash used in operating activities was $795,000 for the nine month period ended December 26, 2015. Cash used in operating activities in
the first nine months of 2016 was primarily attributable to an operating loss of $2.5 million, partially offset by a $1.5 million increase
in accounts payable. Accounts payables increased as payments to vendors were deferred due to working capital constraints. 
 
Cash used in operating activities was $513,000 for the nine month period ended December 27, 2014. Cash used in operating activities in
the first nine months of fiscal 2015 primarily resulted from an increase in accounts receivable of $686,000 due to the increase in customer
sales.
 
Additions to property and equipment were $109,000 in the first nine months of fiscal 2016 compared to $30,000 for the same period last
year. The additions in the both periods were primarily associated with equipment needed to manufacture the new Advanced Signal
Generator product.  
 
Cash provided by financing activities for the first nine months December 26, 2015 was $517,000, primarily due to $1.2 million in proceeds
from the accounts receivable line of credit with Bridge Bank (see Note 12, Accounts Receivable Line of Credit) which was partially offset
by a $680,000 repayment of the Company’s term loan with PFG.
 
Cash provided by financing activities for the first nine months ended December 27, 2014 was $880,000, primarily due to $500,000 of debt
proceeds received from PFG and $457,000 of net proceeds from the line of credit from Silicon Valley Bank.
 
As of December 26, 2015, the Company’s outstanding borrowings under the accounts receivable line of credit with Bridge Bank (see Note
12, Accounts Receivable Line of Credit) was $1.2 million with approximately $895,000 remaining borrowing capacity. Management
intends to draw upon the accounts receivable line of credit with Bridge Bank throughout fiscal 2016 to meet projected cash requirements.
 
The Company incurred net losses of $602,000 for the third quarter of fiscal 2016 and $2.5 million for the first nine months of fiscal
2016, which have contributed to an accumulated deficit of $22.5 million as of December 26, 2015.
 
 
The Company has experienced delays in the development of features, orders, and shipments for the new Advanced Signal Generator.
These delays have significantly contributed to a decrease in working capital from $3.0 million at March 28, 2015, to $443,000 at



December 26, 2015. The new Advanced Signal Generator product has now shipped to several customers, but potential delays in the
development of features, longer than anticipated sales cycles, or the ability to continue shipments in volume quantities, could significantly
contribute to additional future losses. The losses in the first nine months of fiscal 2016 caused working capital restraints, resulting in
delayed payments to suppliers. Many suppliers have since halted the shipment of raw materials to the Company until payments for past
shipments are received.
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The Company has lost, and is seeking to regain its AS9100C Certification that is commonly required in the aircraft manufacturing
industry. The Company’s Microsource division sells components used on military aircrafts to two major customers that have the
expectation the Company will have a Supplier Quality Management System certified to be AS9100C compliant. The Company has
worked with one of the major customers to allow continued shipping and orders during the lapse in certification by allowing the customer
to do its own quality inspections prior to the shipment of the Company’s products. The Company is working with the second customer for
a similar solution during the lapse in certification. The Company’s Giga-tronics division receives orders from time to time that require a
Supplier Quality Management System certified to be AS9100C. If the Company was unable to regain AS9100C certification the lack of
certifications could result in a loss of revenue and have a material adverse effect on results of operations and working capital.
 
These matters raise substantial doubt as to the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern.
 
To address these matters, the Company’s management has taken several actions to provide additional liquidity and reduce costs and
expenses going forward. These actions are described in the following paragraphs. 
 

 

● On January 29, 2016, the Company completed the sale of approximately 2.7 million shares of Common Stock yielding gross
proceeds of approximately $3.5 million. Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $3.2 million. The sale included
Warrants to purchase approximately 2.4 million shares of Common Stock at $1.15 per share (see Note 17, Subsequent Events).
The proceeds will be used to pay suppliers past due accounts, and to fund the forecasted increases in sales and manufacturing
activities associated with the Advanced Signal Generator. There is no guarantee that payments to suppliers can be made in time to
allow for materials to arrive at the Company in time for anticipated fourth quarter fiscal 2016 shipments.

 

 

● On December 15, 2015, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Spanawave Corporation (“Spanawave”),
whereby Spanawave agreed to purchase the Giga-tronics’ Division product lines for its Power Meters, Amplifiers and Legacy
Signal Generators for $1.5 million with one-half of the payments ($750,000) expected to be received between June and July 2016
(see Note 16, Sale of Product Lines). The Company received $75,000 from Spanawave on January 4, 2016 upon the initiation of
data transfer to Spanawave. Proceeds from the asset sale will be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
 

 
● To assist with regaining AS9100C certification, the Company has hired a Director of Quality to lead the recertification process

and retained a consulting firm to advise the Company through the recertification process.
 

 
● In the first quarter of fiscal 2016, the Company’s Microsource business unit also finalized a multiyear $10.0 million YIG

production order (“YIG Production Order”). The Company expects to start shipping the YIG Production Order in the fall of 2016.
 

 

● To assist with the upfront purchases of inventory required for future product deliveries, the Company entered into advance
payment arrangements with two large customers, whereby the customers reimburse the Company for raw material purchases prior
to the shipment of the finished products. In the first three quarters of fiscal 2016, the Company entered into advance payment
arrangements totaling $2.0 million, and during the first three quarters of fiscal 2015 the Company entered into $1.4 million of
advance payment arrangements. The Company will continue to seek similar terms in future agreements with these customers and
other customers.
 

Management will continue to review all aspects of the business in an effort to improve cash flow and reduce costs and expenses, while
continuing to invest, to the extent possible, in new product development for future revenue streams.
 
Management will also continue to seek additional working capital through debt, equity financing or possible product line sales, however
there are no assurances that such financings or sales will be available at all, or on terms acceptable to the Company.
 
The current year loss has had a significant negative impact on the financial condition of the Company and raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management believes that through the actions to date and possible future actions
described above, the Company should have the necessary liquidity to continue its operations at least for the next twelve months, though no
assurances can be made in this regard based on uncertainties with respect to the continued manufacturing, re-attainment of required quality
certifications by its customers and marketing efforts of the Company’s new Advanced Signal Generator product. The Consolidated
Financial Statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern and do not include any adjustments that
might result if the Company were unable to do so.    
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ITEM 3 – QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
Pursuant to Item 305 of Regulation S-K, the Company, as a smaller reporting company, is not required to provide the information required
by this item.
 
ITEM 4 - CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the
Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable
assurances that (i) the information the Company is required to disclose in the reports it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period required by the Commission’s rules and forms, and (ii)
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
 
There were no significant changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this report that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
 
Based on the above described procedures and actions taken, the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and its
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of December 26, 2015, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was
effective based on the criteria described in the “COSO Internal Control – Integrated Framework.”  
 

II - OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
As of December 26, 2015, the Company has no material pending legal proceedings. From time to time, Giga-tronics is involved in various
disputes and litigation matters that arise in the ordinary course of business.
 
ITEM 1A - RISK FACTORS
 
The Company has lost, and is seeking to regain its AS9100C Certification that is commonly required in the aircraft manufacturing
industry. The Company’s Microsource division sells components used on military aircrafts to two major customers that have the
expectation the Company will have a Supplier Quality Management System certified to be AS9100C compliant. The Company has
worked with one of the major customers to allow continued shipping and orders during the lapse in certification by allowing the customer
to do its own quality inspections prior to the shipment of the Company’s products. The Company is working with the second customer for
a similar solution during the lapse in certification. The Company’s Giga-tronics division receives orders from time to time that require a
Supplier Quality Management System certified to be AS9100C. If the Company was unable to regain AS9100C certification the lack of
certifications could result in a loss of revenue and have a material adverse effect on results of operations.
 
NASDAQ could delist the Company’s Common Stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market. On October 26, 2015, based on its preliminary
results, the Company gave notice to NASDAQ that it was likely that its shareholders’ equity at the quarter ended September 26, 2015 fell
below NASDAQ’s listing requirement. The Company’s final results for the quarter end confirmed this. The Company expects NASDAQ
to issue a Staff Delisting Determination letter. The Company is entitled to a prompt hearing on the subject. At the hearing the Company
will demonstrate that it currently in compliance with the shareholders equity requirement with the January 19, 2016 sale of approximately
2.7 million shares of Common Stock yielding gross proceeds of approximately $3.5 million. Net proceeds to the Company were
approximately $3.2 million.
 
The Company has experienced delays in the development of features, orders, and shipments for the new Advanced Signal Generator.
These delays have significantly contributed to a decrease in working capital from $3.0 million at March 28, 2015, to $443,000 at
December 26, 2015. The new Advanced Signal Generator product has now shipped to several customers, but potential delays in the
development of features, longer than anticipated sales cycles, or the ability to continue shipments in volume quantities, could significantly
contribute to additional future losses. The losses in the first nine months of fiscal 2016 caused working capital restraints, resulting in
delayed payments to suppliers. Many suppliers have since halted the shipment of raw materials to the Company until payments for past
shipments are received. These matters raise substantial doubt as to the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. To address
this matter, the Company’s management has taken several actions to provide additional liquidity and reduce costs and expenses going
forward. These actions are described in the in Item 2, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Note 2, Going Concern and Management’s Plan).    
 
There has been no other material change in the risk factors disclosed in the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended March 28, 2015.
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ITEM 2 - UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 
None other than as previously reported. See Note 17, Subsequent Event to the financial statements above.   
 
ITEM 3 - DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
 
None.          
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ITEM 4 - MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 
Not applicable.          
 
ITEM 5 - OTHER INFORMATION
 
None.
 
ITEM 6 - EXHIBITS
 
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
10.1 Asset Purchase Agreement By and Among Spanawave Corporation and Giga-Tronics Incorporated.
101.INS** XBRL Instance
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL**XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
101.LAB**XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 
   GIGA-TRONICS INCORPORATED
   (Registrant)
     
   By:  
     

Date:  February 8, 2016  /s/ John R. Regazzi
   John R. Regazzi  
   President and Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)
     
     

Date:  February 8, 2016  /s/ Steven D. Lance
   Steven D. Lance
   Vice President of Finance
   Chief Financial Officer & Secretary
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Exhibit 10.1
 

 
 
 
 

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
 

Dated as of November 25, 2015
 

By and among
 

SPANAWAVE CORPORATION, a California Corporation,
 

And
 

GIGA-TRONICS INCORPORATED, a California corporation,
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 
  

ADDRNDUM
 
1.      Conditions for effective date of Asset Purchase Agreement
 

EXHIBITS
         
A Definitions 
B Covenant Not To Sue 
C First Amendment to Distribution Agreement Between Giga-tronics, Inc. and Liberty Test Equipment 
D Second Amendment to Distribution Agreement Between Giga-tronics, Inc and Liberty Test Equipment  
E Seller Transition Services Agreement
 
 

SCHEDULES
 
2.1 Acquired Assets
2.2.4 Excluded Assets – includes non-Dedicated equipment, etc.
2.7 Allocation Principles
3.3 Authorization of Governmental Authorities
3.4 Effect of Contemplated Transactions
3.5 Absence of Certain Developments
3.6 Assets
3.7 Intellectual Property
3.8.1 Legal Compliance
3.8.2 Permits
3.9 Contracts
3.10 Affiliate Transactions
3.11 Customers and Suppliers
3.12 Litigation
3.13 Product Warranties
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
 

This Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2015 (as amended or otherwise modified, the “Agreement”), is
between Spanawave Corporation, a California corporation (the “Buyer”) and Giga-tronics Incorporated, a California corporation (the
“Seller”), (the Seller, together with the Buyer, each, a “Party” and, collectively, the “Parties”).
 

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS, the Seller is engaged, as a part of its business, in the development, manufacturing, testing, supporting, selling and
distributing of the product line known as Power Measurement, Network Measurement, Power Amplifier, and Microwave Signal Generator
Product Lines (the “Business”) ;
 

WHEREAS, the Seller has ownership rights in all assets used or held for use in the Business; and
 

WHEREAS, the Buyer desires to purchase from the Seller, and the Seller desires to sell to the Buyer, the Business in a transaction
structured as a sale by the Seller to the Buyer of the Acquired Assets (as hereinafter defined) in exchange for the Purchase Price and the
assumption of certain Assumed Liabilities, on the terms and subject to the conditions described below in this Agreement.
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual promises herein made, and in consideration of the
representations, warranties and covenants herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration described herein, the receipt
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:
 

AGREEMENT
 

1.     DEFINITIONS; CERTAIN RULES OF CONSTRUCTION. Terms capitalized but not defined in this Agreement are defined on
Exhibit A. Exhibit A also contains section references to terms defined in the body of this Agreement.
 

2.     PURCHASE AND SALE OF THE ASSETS.
 

2.1.     Purchase and Sale of Assets. On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, the Seller hereby
agrees to sell, assign, convey and transfer to the Buyer, and the Buyer hereby agrees to acquire from the Seller, all of the Seller’s right,
title and interest in and to all of the business, properties, assets, goodwill and rights of the Seller of whatever kind or nature, real or
personal, tangible or intangible, owned, leased, licensed, used or held for use or license by or on behalf of the Seller in the conduct of
the Business by Seller as of the Closing (other than Excluded Assets), including but not limited to all of Seller’s right, title and interest
in and to the following assets used in the conduct of the Business as of the Closing including the product parts and Dedicated
equipment set forth on Schedule 2.1 (collectively, the “Acquired Assets”), free and clear as of the date of Closing of any Encumbrance:

 
 
 



 
 

2.1.1     All inventories, wherever located, including inventories of raw materials, finished goods, operating supplies, work-
in-process, and packaging;

 
2.1.2     All owned personal property, including Dedicated machinery and equipment, computer equipment and systems,

software, hardware and other materials, where “Dedicated” means such machinery and equipment, computer equipment and
systems, software, hardware and other materials that are solely and exclusively allocated and intended for use with the Acquired
Assets;

 
2.1.3     All supplier lists, pricing information, and all Contractual Obligations for the purchase of goods or services,

including all such items relating to the purchase of capital assets, products and supplies;
 

2.1.4     All other Contract Obligations, including all licenses, conditional sale or title retention agreements and guarantees;
 

2.1.5     All Intellectual Property including all trademarks/service marks used or held for use in the Business as currently
conducted, and the goodwill associated therewith except the name, trade name or trademark “Giga-tronics” pursuant to Section
2.2.2;

 
2.1.6     All Permits to the extent assignable; and

 
2.1.7     All records of the products and manufacturing drawings, inventory, and all technical, sales and promotional literature

related to the Acquired Assets.
 

2.1.8      For a period of 36 months following the Closing:
 

(a)     Seller will install and maintain a Buyer designed, mutually agreeable html page with links residing on Seller’s web
site directing all current users of the Product Lines acquired by Buyer to web site destinations determined at the sole discretion
of the Buyer. This web page must be easily accessible and visible by users searching for the Product Lines being acquired by
the Buyer.

 
(b)     Seller will install and maintain an Automatic Telephone line transfer in the same format as it exists on Seller’s

current system. The transfer to be modified to cover all Product Lines and Services for the Product Lines being acquired by the
Buyer.

 
     (c) For a period not to exceed eighteen (18) months following the Closing Date, to the extent that Seller receives any sales
or support calls with respect to the Acquired Assets, Seller agrees to forward such calls to Buyer.

 
2.1.9      Any other assets; tangible or intangible, not otherwise expressly identified herein, which are in any manner required

for the manufacturing and support of the product lines, products or models.
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 2.1, to the extent any of such Acquired Assets used in the conduct of
the Business is also used by Seller in its businesses other than the Business, Seller shall so indicate on Schedule 2.1, and Buyer’s at its sole
discretion, may provide Seller with a license to use such assets in connection with Seller’s other businesses and Seller shall continue to
have the right to use such assets in its business other than the Business.
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The parties have agreed that such purchase and sale of the Acquired Assets shall take place in six (6) distinct phases (each a “Phase”), the
date of completion of which shall be referred to as a Phase Completion Date, as set forth in Schedule 2.1. The terms of this Section 2.1
shall apply to each Phase with respect to the Acquired Assets assigned and set forth in Schedule 2.1. The Inventory associated with the
Acquired Assets in each Phase shall be (i) valued at the less of the Seller’s then current net book value (NBV) or fair market value (FMV)
as agreed to by both Parties, and (ii) paid by Buyer, no later than on each respective Phase Completion Date.
 

2.2.     Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Buyer acknowledges that the following
assets of the Seller shall be excluded from the assets to be sold to the Buyer hereunder, and, to the extent in existence on the Closing
Date, the Seller shall retain all of the Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the following assets, properties and rights (collectively,
the “Excluded Assets”):

 
2.2.1     all cash and cash equivalents of the Business;

 
2.2.2     any rights to the name, trade name or trademark “Giga-tronics” or any rights to use the same either alone or in

combination with other words; provided, that Buyer shall be permitted to use finished goods, supplies and sales literature
transferred pursuant to Section 2.1 of this Agreement

 
2.2.3     all assets, whether or not used in the conduct of the Business, which are identified as Excluded Assets on Schedule

2.2.3; and
 

2.2.4     all rights of the Seller under this Agreement and any Ancillary Agreement except as otherwise provided for in this
Agreement.

 
2.3.     Assumption of Certain Liabilities. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Buyer hereby assumes and the

Seller hereby assigns to the Buyer the following specified Liabilities of the Seller (the “Assumed Liabilities”), but no others:
 

2.3.1     all Liabilities for post-Closing performance under the Contractual Obligations included within the Acquired Assets
but excluding (i) any Liabilities arising from or directly or indirectly related to any violation, breach or default of such
Contractual Obligations occurring prior to the Closing, (ii) any Liabilities arising from any action or omission of the Seller prior
to the Closing or (iii) any Liabilities relating to loss obligations or loss commitments associated with the Business.

 
2.3.2      For products in each phase transfer, until each respective Phase Completion Date, Seller agrees to continue to

service the Business product line at no cost to Buyer when product is in-warranty and at cost when product is out of warranty.
Any additional services that may be needed from the seller shall be negotiated under a separate Seller Transition Services
Agreement as needed.
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Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, the Buyer is not assuming, and shall not be deemed to have
assumed, any Liability of the Seller of whatever nature other than the Assumed Liabilities specifically described above. No assumption
by the Buyer of any of the Assumed Liabilities shall relieve or be deemed to relieve the Seller from any liability under this Agreement
with respect to any representations or warranties or covenants made by the Seller to the Buyer.

 
2.4.     Total Purchase Price. The total purchase price which the Buyer shall pay for the Acquired Assets and Inventory and in

consideration of the covenants of the Seller contained herein (the “Purchase Price”) is
 

 
● $1,500,000 USD in cash for the Acquired Assets (as provided in Section 2 hereof), Intellectual Property and the Buyer’s

assumption of the Assumed Liabilities (as provided in Section 2.3 hereof) on or before the Closing Date, pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement pursuant to Schedule 2.1.

 

 
● The Inventory of Acquired Assets at each associated Phase of the Transaction, all valued at the lesser of the Seller’s then

current net book value (NBV) or fair market value (FMV) as agreed to by both Parties, on each respective Phase
Completion Date.

 
The Purchase Price shall be paid in installments per each of the six (6) Phases as outlined in Schedule 2.1 with respect to each
applicable list of Acquired Assets. For each respective Phase, the Buyer shall pay each Phase Purchase Price Installment as
follows: (i) 50% of the Purchase Price for each Phase at the Phase Commencement Date, and (ii) the remaining 50% of the Phase
Purchase Price Installment upon each Phase Completion Date, pursuant to Schedule 2.1.

 
The Parties expect delivery of the Electronic Data associated with each Phase at the respective Phase Commencement Date.

 
2.5.     The Closing. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the consummation of the six Phase transactions (the

“Closing”) contemplated by this Agreement will take place at the offices of Giga-tronics, Inc, 4650 Norris Canyon Road, San Ramon,
California, on or after the date of this Agreement upon the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 7, but no later than August
1, 2016 (unless otherwise mutually extended by the Parties), as provided below.

 
2.5.1     At the Closing:

 
(a)     The Seller shall physically transfer all of the remaining Electronic Data to the Buyer.

 
(b)     The Buyer shall have completed all Phase Purchase Price Installments to the Seller pursuant to the schedule

specified in Schedule 2.1 by wire transfer.
 

(c)     Each Party shall execute and deliver to the other a counterpart signature to a Seller Transition Services Agreement
substantially in the form of Exhibit E as needed.
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(d)     Each Party shall execute and deliver to the other a counterpart signature to a Covenant Not To Sue substantially in
the form of Exhibit B.

 
(e)     The Seller shall provide a release from Bridge Bank and Partners For Growth in a form satisfactory to the Buyer

releasing all liens Bridge Bank and Partners For Growth may have with respect to the Business or any Acquired Assets.
 

2.6.     Assignment of Certain Acquired Assets.
 

2.6.1     Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall not constitute an agreement to
assign or transfer any Acquired Asset that is not assignable or transferable without the consent of any Person, other than any
Seller, Buyer or any of their respective Affiliates, to the extent that such consent shall not have been given prior to the Closing;
provided, however, that Seller shall use, both prior to and after the Closing, commercially reasonable efforts to obtain at its own
cost, and Buyer shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to assist and cooperate with Seller in connection therewith, all
necessary consents to the assignment and transfer thereof.

 
2.7.     Allocation of the Purchase Price. Buyer shall prepare an allocation of the Purchase Price (and all other capitalized costs)

among the assets in accordance with the allocation principles set forth on Schedule 2.7 and with Section 1060 of the Code and the
Treasury Regulations thereunder (and any similar provision of state, local or foreign law, as appropriate), which allocation and any
adjustments thereto shall be binding among the parties hereto (unless such allocation is challenged by the IRS and the IRS imposes an
alternative allocation, in which case such alternative allocation and any adjustments thereto shall be binding among the parties hereto).
The Buyer shall deliver such allocation to the Seller within 120 days after the Closing Date. The Buyer shall prepare any adjustments
required to the allocation. This allocation shall only apply with respect to Taxes. The Parties shall report, act and file their respective
Tax Returns in accordance with such allocation and any adjustments thereto and shall not take any position or action inconsistent with
such allocation and any adjustments thereto. The Seller shall timely and properly prepare, execute, file and deliver all such documents,
forms and other information as the Buyer may reasonably request to prepare the allocation and any adjustments thereto.

 
3.     REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLER.

 
In order to induce the Buyer to enter into and perform this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated herein,

the Seller hereby represents and warrants to the Buyer as follows:
 

3.1.     Organization. The Seller is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of California and is duly
qualified to do business and in good standing in each jurisdiction except where the failure to so qualify has not had, and is not
reasonably likely to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

 
3.2.     Power and Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by the Seller of this Agreement and the Ancillary

Agreements and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby are within the power and authority of the
Seller and have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of the Seller. This Agreement and each Ancillary Agreement
has been duly executed and delivered by the Seller and is a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Seller, enforceable against the
Seller in accordance with its terms. The Seller has the full power and authority necessary to own and use its assets and carry on the
Business as is currently conducted.
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3.3.     Authorization of Governmental Authorities. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.3, no authorization, consent or approval by,
or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required for, or in connection with, the valid and lawful authorization, execution, delivery
and performance by the Seller of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby by the Seller.

 
3.4.     Noncontravention. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.4, neither the execution, delivery and performance by the Seller of this

Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will: (a) assuming the receipt of any authorization, consent
or approval, or the making of any filing with, any Governmental Authority, in each case as disclosed on Schedule 3.3, violate any
material Legal Requirement applicable to the Seller; (b) result in a breach or violation of, or default under, any Contractual Obligation;
(c) require any authorization, consent or approval of, or notice to, any Person under any Contractual Obligation; (d) result in the
creation or imposition of an Encumbrance upon, or the forfeiture of, any Acquired Asset; or (e) result in a breach or violation of, or
default under, the articles of incorporation and bylaws of the Seller.

 
3.5.     Absence of Certain Developments. Since March 28, 2015, the Business has been conducted in the Ordinary Course of

Business and, except for the matters disclosed on Schedule 3.5:
 

(a)     there has been no material loss, destruction, damage, or diminution of value affecting the Acquired Assets;
 

(b)     any sale, assignment, transfer, lease or other disposition or agreement to sell, assign, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose
of any of the assets (including the Acquired Assets) of the Seller used primarily in the Business, other than in the Ordinary Course
of Business;

 
(c)     the Seller has not entered into any Contractual Obligation to do any of the things referred to elsewhere in this Section 3.5;

and
 

(d)     no event or circumstance has occurred which has had, or is reasonably likely to have, a Material Adverse Effect.
 

3.6.     Assets. The Seller has sole and exclusive, good and marketable title to, or right to use, all of the Acquired Assets, whether
real or personal and whether tangible or intangible. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.6, none of the Acquired Assets is subject to any
Encumbrance. The Acquired Assets comprise all of the assets, properties and rights of every type and description, whether real or
personal, tangible or intangible, used in or necessary to conduct the Business as currently conducted. The Acquired Assets are adequate
and sufficient, in all material respects, to conduct the business of the Business in a manner substantially equivalent to the manner in
which it is currently conducted.
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3.7.     Intellectual Property.
 

3.7.1     The Seller is the exclusive owner of or has the exclusive right to use all Intellectual Property included in the
Acquired Assets (“Acquired Intellectual Property”), no Acquired Intellectual Property is in the control of any Person other than
the Seller, and all such Acquired Intellectual Property is free and clear of Encumbrances. No Acquired Intellectual Property is
subject to any outstanding Government Order, and no Action is pending or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened, which
challenges the legality, validity, enforceability, use or ownership of any of the Acquired Intellectual Property. The execution of
this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby will not alter or impair the Acquired Intellectual
Property or the Buyer’s right to use the Acquired Intellectual Property.

 
3.7.2     The Seller has not interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated, or violated any Intellectual Property rights of

third parties in any material respect, and the Seller has not received any written charge, complaint, claim, demand, or notice
alleging any such interference, infringement, misappropriation, or violation (including any claim that the Seller must license or
refrain from using Intellectual Property rights of any third party). To the Seller’s Knowledge at the time of signing this
Agreement, no third party has interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated, or otherwise come into conflict with any
Acquired Intellectual Property.

 
3.7.3     Schedule 3.7 identifies each item of Intellectual Property that any Person besides the Seller owns and that is used by

the Seller or in connection with the Business pursuant to any license, sublicense or other Contractual Obligation, other than
standard, commercially-available, off-the-shelf software licenses (the “Licenses”). Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.7, there are
no royalties for the use of any such Intellectual Property.

 
3.7.4     The Seller either solely owns or is validly licensed to use all software used by the Business including the right to

grant sub-licenses to its customers. Seller represents that it is in compliance in all material respects, and in good standing, with the
terms and conditions of any licensed software set forth on Schedule 3.7, including to any open source software. Seller has all
rights necessary to develop and maintain all such software and no action will be necessary to enable the Business to continue to
use, develop, license, modify and maintain such software to the same extent and in the same manner as it had been done prior to
the Closing.

 
3.8.     Legal Compliance; Permits.

 
3.8.1     Legal Compliance. The Seller is not in breach or violation of, or default under, and has not been in breach or

violation of, or default under (a) its articles of incorporation and bylaws or (b) any material Legal Requirement, in each case
related to or materially affecting the Business, except for breaches, violation or defaults disclosed on Schedule 3.8.1.

 
 

-7-



 
 

3.8.2     Permits. The Seller has been duly granted all Permits under all Legal Requirements necessary for the conduct of the
Business as currently conducted. Schedule 3.8.2 describes each Permit held by the Seller and related to or affecting the Business
and the Governmental Authority or other Person responsible for issuing such Permit. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.8.2, (a)
the Permits are valid and in full force and effect, (b) the Seller is not in breach or violation of, or default under, any such Permit
and (c) all Permits may be assigned by the Seller to Buyer and such Permits will continue to be valid and in full force and effect
with respect to the Business, on identical terms following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
and the Ancillary Agreements.

 
3.9.     Contracts.

 
3.9.1     Contracts. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.9, with respect to the conduct of the Business, the Seller is not bound

by or a party to:
 

(a)     any Contractual Obligation (or group of related Contractual Obligations) other than any Contractual Obligation
which by its terms can be terminated upon no longer than 120 days’ written notice without any further Liability to the Seller;

 
(b)     any Contractual Obligation with a supplier to the Business;

 
(c)     any Contractual Obligation relating to the acquisition or disposition of any Acquired Asset;

 
(d)     any material license (whether as licensor or licensee) or similar agreement permitting the use of any Intellectual

Property related to or affecting the Business;
 

(e)     any Contractual Obligation under which the Seller is, or may become, obligated to pay any amount in respect of
indemnification obligations, purchase price adjustment or otherwise in connection with any (i) acquisition or disposition of
assets or securities (other than the sale of inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business), (ii) merger, consolidation or other
business combination or (iii) series or group of related transactions or events of the type specified in clauses (i) and (ii) above.

 
(f)     any Contractual Obligation containing non-competition covenants (whether the Seller is subject to or the beneficiary

of such obligations); or
 

(g)     any agency, dealer, distributor, sales representative, marketing or other similar agreement related to or affecting the
Business.

 
The Seller has delivered to the Buyer true, accurate and complete copies of each Contractual Obligation required to be disclosed on
Schedule 3.7 (Intellectual Property), 3.9 (Contracts), or 3.10 (Affiliate Transactions) (each, a “Disclosed Contract”) that is
embodied in a written instrument, in each case, as amended or otherwise modified and in effect. The Seller has delivered to the
Buyer a written summary setting forth the terms and conditions of each oral Disclosed Contract.

 
3.9.2     Enforceability, etc. Each Disclosed Contract is enforceable against each party to such Disclosed Contract, and is in

full force and effect, and, subject to obtaining any necessary consents disclosed in Schedule 3.4, will continue to be so enforceable
and in full force and effect on identical terms following the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
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3.9.3     Breach, etc. Neither the Seller nor, to the Seller’s Knowledge at the time of signing this Agreement, any other party
to any Disclosed Contract is in breach or violation of, or default under, or has repudiated any provision of, any Disclosed Contract.
Neither the Seller, nor any of its Affiliates has received any notice (written or oral) of cancellation or termination of, or any
expression or indication of an intention or desire to cancel or terminate, any of the Disclosed Contracts. With respect to any
Disclosed Contract which by its terms will terminate as of a certain date unless renewed or unless an option to extend such
Disclosed Contract is exercised, neither the Seller nor any of its Affiliates has received any notice (written or oral), or otherwise
has any knowledge, that any such Disclosed Contract will not be, or is not likely to be, so renewed or that any such extension
option will not be exercised.

 
3.10.     Affiliate Transactions. Except for the matters disclosed on Schedule 3.10, no Affiliate of any Seller is an officer, director,

employee, consultant, competitor, creditor, debtor, customer, distributor, supplier or vendor of, or is a party to any Contractual
Obligation with the Seller. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.10, no Affiliate of any Seller owns any asset used in, or necessary to, the
Business.

 
3.11.     Customers and Suppliers. Schedule 3.11 sets forth a complete and accurate list of (a) the suppliers, as applicable, of

materials, products or services to the Business (measured by the aggregate amount purchased by the Seller) during the most recent
completed fiscal year and (b) all direct customers of the Business. The relationships of the Seller with the customers and suppliers
required to be listed on Schedule 3.11 are good commercial working relationships and none of such customers or suppliers has
canceled, terminated or otherwise materially altered (including any material reduction in the rate or amount of sales or purchases or
material increases in the prices charged or paid, as the case may be) or notified the Seller of any intention to do any of the foregoing or
otherwise threatened in writing to cancel, terminate or materially alter its relationship with the Seller.

 
3.12.     Litigation; Governmental Orders . Schedule 3.12 sets forth each instance in which the Seller (a) is subject to any

outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge related to or affecting the Business or (b) is a party, or to the Sellers’
Knowledge at the time of signing this Agreement, is threatened to be made a party, to any Action related to or affecting the Business.

 
3.13.     Product Warranties. Schedule 3.13 includes a summary of the guaranty, warranty, and indemnity provisions contained in

the Seller’s standard terms and conditions of service and related to or affecting the Business. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.13, no
product of the Business sold or related service provided by the Seller is subject to any guaranty, warranty, or other indemnity. The
Seller has no Liability for replacement or repair of any products serviced by the Seller or other damages in connection with any
products serviced by the Seller. Schedule 3.13 sets forth a list of all concluded Actions (including the disposition thereof) against the
Seller with respect to the Business relating to, or otherwise involving, alleged defects in the products or services provided by the Seller,
or the alleged failure of any such products or services to meet specifications.
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3.14.     No Brokers. The Seller has no Liability to any broker, finder or agent in connection with the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement other than those which will be borne by the Seller.

 
3.15.     Inventory. All of the inventory included in the Acquired Assets was acquired or produced in the ordinary course of

business, and such inventory is valued at the lesser of the Seller’s then current net book value (NBV) or fair market value (FMV), as
agreed to by both Parties, is currently saleable and marketable in the Ordinary Course of Business without markdowns, and does not
contain any damaged or unusable items. The Seller has inventory on hand or has entered into purchase orders for the purchase of
inventory sufficient to allow it to meet the requirements of current outstanding sales orders, all of which were or will have been placed
by Buyer.

 
3.16.     Disclosure. The representations and warranties contained in this Section 3, taken together with the disclosures contained in

the schedules attached hereto, do not contain any untrue statement material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to
make the statements and information contained herein and therein not misleading.

 
4.     REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BUYER. The Buyer represents and warrants to the Seller that:

 
4.1.     Organization. The Buyer is duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its

organization.
 

4.2.     Power and Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by the Buyer of this Agreement and the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby are within the power and authority of the Buyer and have been duly authorized by all necessary
action on the part of the Buyer. This Agreement (a) has been duly executed and delivered by the Buyer and (b) is a legal, valid and
binding obligation of the Buyer, enforceable against the Buyer in accordance with its terms.

 
4.3.     Authorization of Governmental Authorities. Except as disclosed in Schedule 4.3, no action, authorization, consent or

approval of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required for, or in connection with, the valid and lawful (a) authorization,
execution, delivery and performance by the Buyer of this Agreement or (b) the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by the
Buyer.

 
4.4.     Noncontravention. Except as disclosed in Schedule 4.4, neither the execution, delivery and performance by the Buyer of this

Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will: (a) assuming the receipt of any authorization, consent
or approval, or the making of any filing with, any Governmental Authority, in each case as disclosed on Schedule 4.3, violate any
provision of any Legal Requirement applicable to the Buyer; (b) result in a breach or violation of, or default under, any Contractual
Obligation of the Buyer; (c) require any authorization, consent or approval of, or notice to, any Person under any Contractual Obligation
of the Buyer; or (d) result in a breach or violation of, or default under, the articles of incorporation or bylaws of the Buyer.
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4.5.     No Brokers. The Buyer has no Liability to any broker, finder or agent with respect to the transactions contemplated in this
Agreement other than those which will be borne by the Buyer.

 
5.     COVENANTS.

 
5.1.     Expenses. With respect to the costs and expenses (including legal, accounting, consulting, advisory and brokerage) incurred

in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Transaction Expenses”), the Seller will bear the Transaction
Expenses of the Seller, and the Buyer will bear the Transaction Expenses of the Buyer.

 
5.2.     Confidentiality of the Sellers .

 
5.2.1     The Seller acknowledges that the success of the Business after the Closing depends upon the continued preservation

of the confidentiality of certain information possessed by such Seller, that the preservation of the confidentiality of such
information by such Seller is an essential premise of the bargain between the Seller and the Buyer, and that the Buyer would be
unwilling to enter into this Agreement in the absence of this Section 5.2.1. Accordingly, the Seller hereby agrees with the Buyer
that the Seller will not, and that the Seller will cause its representatives and Affiliates not to, at any time on or after the Closing
Date, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Buyer, disclose or use, any confidential or proprietary
information involving or relating to the Business; provided, however, that the information subject to the foregoing provisions of
this sentence will not include any information generally available to, or known by, the public (other than as a result of disclosure
in violation hereof); and provided, further, that the provisions of this Section 5.2.1 will not prohibit any retention of copies of
records or disclosure (i) required by any applicable Legal Requirement so long as reasonable prior notice is given of such
disclosure and a reasonable opportunity is afforded Buyer to contest such disclosure, (ii) made in connection with the
enforcement of any right or remedy relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, or (iii) that is on backups
or archives and is not feasible after reasonable commercial efforts to return or destroy.

 
5.2.2     Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Seller and its representatives and Affiliates may disclose to any and all Persons,

without limitation of any kind, the tax treatment and tax structure of and strategies relating to the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided to the Seller relating to
such tax treatment, tax strategies and tax structure, all as contemplated by Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(3)(iii).

 
5.3.     Publicity. No public announcement or disclosure may be made by any Party with respect to the subject matter of this

Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby without the prior written consent of the other Party; provided, however, that the
provisions of this Section 5.3 will not prohibit any disclosure required by any applicable Legal Requirements (in which case the
disclosing party will provide the other parties with the opportunity to review in advance the disclosure) or any disclosure made in
connection with the enforcement of any right or remedy relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.
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5.4.     Noncompetition.
 

5.4.1     Except as otherwise permitted in this Agreement, after the Closing Date, the Seller agrees not to re-enter the
associated Power Measurement, Network Measurement, Microwave Signal Generator and Power Amplifier General Purpose
Electronic Test Equipment (“GPETE”) market(s).  Should Seller be acquired by a third party, notwithstanding Section 8.2, such
acquiring company shall be prohibited from entering the associated Power Measurement, Network Measurement, Microwave
Signal Generator, and Power Amplifier GPETE market(s) using the Acquired Assets, as set forth in Schedule 2.1, with their
associated intellectual property. Excluded from the noncompetition is the Seller’s new Advanced Signal Generator and related
non-GPETE products, which are in no way associated with this Agreement.

 
5.4.2     The Seller acknowledges that in view of the nature of the Acquired Assets and the business objectives of the Buyer

in acquiring them, and the consideration paid to Seller therefor, the limitations set forth in Sections 5.2.1 (Confidentiality) and
5.4.1 (Non-Competition) are reasonable and properly required for the adequate protection of the Buyer. The Seller further
acknowledges that the remedy at law for any breach or threatened breach by them of the agreements contained in Sections 5.2.1
or 5.4.1 will be inadequate and agrees that the Buyer, in the event of such breach or threatened breach, in addition to all other
remedies available for such breach or threatened breach (including a recovery of damages), will be entitled to seek preliminary or
permanent injunctive relief without being required to prove actual damages or to post a bond or other undertaking and, to the
extent permitted by applicable statutes and rules of procedure, a temporary restraining order (or similar procedural device) upon
the commencement of such action. This Section 5.4.2 constitutes an independent and severable covenant and if any or all of the
provisions of this Section 5.4.2 are held to be unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, it will not in any way invalidate or affect
the remainder of this Agreement which will remain in full force and effect.

 
5.5.     Certain Taxes and Fees. All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes, and any conveyance

fees or recording charges incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements,
will be paid by Buyer when due. Seller will, at its own expense, file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to
all such Taxes, fees and charges and, if required by applicable law, Buyer will (and will cause its Affiliates to) join in the execution of
any such Tax Returns and other documentation.

 
5.6.     Transfer of Certain Funds Received Post-Closing. With respect to any and all amounts received or collected by the Seller

from and after the Closing (a) attributable to, or in respect of, any Acquired Asset and (b) which become the property of the Buyer as a
result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, the Seller shall provide
notice of such receipt or collection to the Buyer and use its reasonable efforts to pay within ten (10) Business Days of their receipt or
collection to the Buyer any and all such amounts so received or collected by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account
specified by the Buyer or by other means acceptable to the Buyer.
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5.7.     Non-Exclusive License. As further evidenced by the Covenant Not To Sue to be delivered pursuant to Section 2.5 of this
Agreement, the Seller hereby grants to Buyer a non-exclusive, fully paid up, transferable, worldwide, royalty-free license, with the right
to sublicense for purposes of conducting the Business, under all Intellectual Property owned or controlled by Seller as of the Closing
necessary to conduct the Business as it was conducted or had been conducted by Seller as of the Closing Date including research,
development and commercialization of products and methods of the Business, and not specifically conveyed to Buyer under the terms
of this Agreement. To the extent that there is intellectual property not owned or controlled by Seller but necessary to conduct the
Business as it was conducted or had been conducted by Seller as of the Closing Date, Seller agrees to assist Buyer in obtaining rights to
such intellectual property, as declared in Schedule 5.7.

 
5.8.     Access to Records and Employees After Closing. For a period of two (2) years after the Closing Date, the Parties shall afford

one another and their respective Representatives reasonable access to all of the records of the products and manufacturing drawings,
inventory, and all technical, sales and promotional literature related to the Acquired Assets to the extent that such access may
reasonably be required by the other Parties in connection with tax or litigation matters (excluding litigation between the Buyer or any
Affiliate on the one hand and the Seller or any Affiliate on the other hand) relating to the Business prior to the Closing Date. Such
access shall be afforded upon receipt of reasonable advance notice and during normal business hours, and the requesting party shall not
be responsible for any costs or expenses incurred by them pursuant to this Section 5.8, except for reasonable out-of pocket expenses
incurred by the party of whom the request was made. If Buyer or the Seller desire to dispose of any of such records prior to the
expiration of such two-year period, they shall, prior to such disposition, give the other party a reasonable opportunity, at such party’s
expense, to segregate and remove such records as such party may select.

 
5.9.     Inventory Claims. Buyer agrees to pay Seller the value of the Inventory associated with the Acquired Assets for each Phase

of the Transaction as specified in Schedule 2.1, on the date of transfer of such Inventory to Buyer, but in no event later than the
respective Phase Completion Date.

 
5.10.     Conduct of the Business. From the date hereof until the Closing Date, the Seller shall conduct the operation of the

Business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact the Business
as conducted as of the date of this Agreement and preserve intact relationships with third parties relating to the Business. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, from the date hereof until the Closing Date, without the prior written consent of the Buyer or
mutual agreement by the Parties, the Seller shall not (i) sell, transfer, lease or dispose of any Acquired Assets nor engage in any
discussions with any third parties related to the sale, transfer, lease or disposition of any Acquired Assets, (ii) create, incur or assume
any indebtedness that creates a lien upon any Acquired Assets, (iii) take any action that would cause any of the representations and
warranties made by Seller in this Agreement not to remain true and correct in all material respects, (iv) undertake any action or engage
in any omission which shall impair or jeopardize the Seller’s rights in the Acquired Intellectual Property, or (iv) fail to comply in all
material respects with all statutes, ordinances, regulations, orders, judgments and decrees of every Governmental Authority applicable
to the Business and to the conduct of the Business and perform all of its obligations with respect thereto without default. Prior to the
Closing Date, the Parties shall promptly notify each other of any notice from any Person alleging consent is required in connection with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or of any notice from any Governmental Authority relating to the Business.
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5.11.     Further Assurances. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, upon the request of either the Seller or the
Buyer, each of the Parties hereto will do, execute, acknowledge and deliver all such further acts, assurances, deeds, assignments,
transfers, conveyances and other instruments and papers as may be reasonably required or appropriate to carry out the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements. The Seller shall provide all cooperation reasonably requested by the
Buyer in connection with any effort by the Buyer to establish, perfect, defend, or enforce its rights in or to the Acquired Assets,
including executing further consistent assignments, transfers and releases, and causing its representatives and agents to provide good
faith testimony by affidavit, declaration, deposition or other means. To the extent further transfer or assignment of any Acquired Asset
is required, and the Seller has not executed and returned the form of assignment reasonably requested by the Buyer to the Seller within
ten (10) Business Days of the delivery of such request to Seller at the address for notices set forth in this Agreement, then the Seller
hereby irrevocably appoints the Buyer as its attorney-in-fact with the right, authority and ability to execute and enter into such
assignment on behalf of the Seller. The Seller stipulates and agrees that such appointment is a right coupled with an interest and will
survive the incapacity or unavailability of the Seller at any future time. No Seller will take any action that is designed or intended to
have the effect of discouraging any lessor, licensor, supplier, distributor or customer of the Seller or other Person with whom the Seller
has a relationship from maintaining the same relationship with the Buyer after the Closing as it maintained with the Seller prior to the
Closing. The Seller shall, and shall cause their Affiliates and their respective Representatives and other agents to, cooperate and assist
the Buyer with an orderly transition of the Business and Acquired Assets to the Buyer.

 
6.     INDEMNIFICATION.

 
6.1.     Indemnification by the Seller.

 
6.1.1     Indemnification. Subject to the limitations set forth in this Section 6, the Seller will indemnify and hold harmless the

Buyer and each of Buyer’s Affiliates, and the representatives and Affiliates of each of the foregoing (each, a “Buyer Indemnified
Persons”), from, against and in respect of any and all Actions, Liabilities, Governmental Orders, Encumbrances, losses, damages,
bonds, dues, assessments, fines, penalties, Taxes, fees, and expenses actually incurred by a Buyer Indemnified Person or amounts
paid in settlement (in each case, including reasonable attorneys’ and experts fees and expenses), involving a Third Party Claim
(collectively, “Losses”), incurred or suffered by the Buyer Indemnified Persons to the extent caused by and arising out of or
directly relating to:

 
(a)     any fraud of the Seller or any breach of, or inaccuracy in, any representation or warranty made by the Seller in this

Agreement;
 

(b)     any material breach or violation of any covenant or agreement of the Seller (including under this Section 6) in or
pursuant to this Agreement;

 
(c)     the use, license, distribution or sale of Acquired Assets by or on behalf of Seller during the period after the effective

date of this Agreement and before each applicable Phase Completion Date and the Closing Date, if such Losses would not
have occurred but for such use, license, distribution or sale;
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(d)     any Liability of the Seller which is not an Assumed Liability; or
 

(e)     any Taxes or nonpayment thereof by the Seller for any taxable period, any transfer Taxes as determined under
Section 5.5 and any Taxes relating to the Business or Acquired Assets for any taxable period or portion thereof ending on or
before the Closing Date.

 
6.1.2     Monetary Limitations. Seller’s obligation to indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Persons pursuant to Section 6.1.1 shall

be not exceed in the aggregate the sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000).
 

6.2.     Indemnification by the Buyer. Subject to the limitations set forth in this Section 6, the Buyer will indemnify and hold
harmless the Seller and the Seller’s Affiliates, and the representatives and Affiliates of each of the foregoing Persons (each, a “Seller
Indemnified Person”), from, against and in respect of any and all Losses incurred or suffered by the Seller Indemnified Persons to the
extent caused by and arising out of or directly relating to:

 
6.2.1     any breach of, or inaccuracy in, any representation or warranty made by the Buyer in this Agreement;

 
6.2.2     any breach or violation of any covenant or agreement of the Buyer (including under this Section 6) in or pursuant to

this Agreement;
 

6.2.3          the use, license, distribution or sale of Acquired Assets by or on behalf of Buyer on or after each application Phase
Completion Date and the Closing Date; or

 
6.2.4     any liability or obligation arising out of or relating to any Assumed Liability.

 
6.3.     Time for Claims. The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement survive the Closing; provided, that no

claim may be made or suit instituted seeking indemnification pursuant to Sections 6.1.1(a) or 6.2.1 for any breach of, or inaccuracy in,
any representation or warranty unless a written notice describing such breach or inaccuracy in reasonable detail in light of the
circumstances then known to the Indemnified Party, is provided to the Indemnifying Party:

 
(a)     at any time, in the case of any breach of, or inaccuracy in, the representations and warranties set forth in Sections 3.1

(Organization), 3.2 (Power and Authorization), 3.4(e) (Breach of charter or bylaws), 3.7 (Assets), 3.14 (No Brokers), 4.1
(Organization), 4.2 (Power and Authorization), 4.4(d) (Breach of charter or bylaws) or 4.5 (No Brokers) or in the case of any
claim or suit based upon violations of law, fraud or intentional misrepresentation; and

 
(b)     at any time prior to the thirtieth (30 ) day after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (taking into

account any tolling periods and other extensions) in the case of any breach of, or inaccuracy in, the representations and
warranties set forth in Section 3.8.1 (Legal Compliance).
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6.4.     Third Party Claims.
 

6.4.1     Notice of Claim. If any third party notifies an Indemnified Party with respect to any matter (a “Third Party Claim”)
that may give rise to an Indemnity Claim against an Indemnifying Party under this Section 6, then the Indemnified Party will
promptly give written notice to the Indemnifying Party; provided, however, that no delay on the part of the Indemnified Party in
notifying the Indemnifying Party will relieve the Indemnifying Party from any obligation under this Section 6, except to the extent
such delay actually and materially prejudices the Indemnifying Party.

 
6.4.2     Assumption of Defense, etc. The Indemnifying Party will be entitled to participate in the defense of any Third Party

Claim that is the subject of a notice given by the Indemnified Party pursuant to Section 6.4.1. In addition, the Indemnifying Party
will have the right to defend the Indemnified Party against the Third Party Claim with counsel of its choice reasonably
satisfactory to the Indemnified Party so long as (a) the Indemnifying Party gives written notice to the Indemnified Party within
fifteen days after the Indemnified Party has given notice of the Third Party Claim that the Indemnifying Party will indemnify the
Indemnified Party from and against the entirety of any and all Losses the Indemnified Party may suffer resulting from, arising out
of, relating to, in the nature of, or caused by the Third Party Claim, (b) the Indemnifying Party provides the Indemnified Party
with evidence reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party that the Indemnifying Party will have adequate financial resources
to defend against the Third Party Claim and fulfill its indemnification obligations hereunder, (c) the Third Party Claim involves
only money damages and does not seek an injunction or other equitable relief against the Indemnified Party, (d) the Indemnified
Party has not been advised by counsel that an actual or potential conflict exists between the Indemnified Party and the
Indemnifying Party in connection with the defense of the Third Party Claim, (e) the Third Party Claim does not relate to or
otherwise arise in connection with Taxes or any criminal or regulatory enforcement Action, (f) settlement of, an adverse judgment
with respect to the Indemnifying Party’s conduct of the defense of the Third Party Claim is not, in the good faith judgment of the
Indemnified Party, likely to be adverse to the Indemnified Party’s reputation or continuing business interests (including its
relationships with current or potential customers, suppliers or other parties material to the conduct of its business) and (g) the
Indemnifying Party conducts the defense of the Third Party Claim actively and diligently. The Indemnified Party may retain
separate co-counsel at its sole cost and expense and participate in the defense of the Third Party Claim, provided such
participation shall not unduly interfere with the Indemnifying Party’s defense activities and efforts.

 
6.4.3     Limitations on Indemnifying Party. The Indemnifying Party may not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter

into any compromise or settlement with respect to the Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified
Party unless such judgment, compromise or settlement (a) provides for the payment by the Indemnifying Party of money as sole
relief for the claimant, (b) results in the full and general release of the Buyer Indemnified Persons or Seller Indemnified Persons,
as applicable, from all liabilities arising or relating to, or in connection with, the Third Party Claim and (c) involves no finding or
admission of any violation of Legal Requirements or the rights of any Person and no effect on any other claims that may be made
against the Indemnified Party.

 
 

-16-



 
 

6.4.4     Indemnified Party’s Control. If the Indemnifying Party does not deliver the notice contemplated by clause (a), or the
evidence contemplated by clause (b), of Section 6.4.2 within 15 days after the Indemnified Party has given notice of the Third
Party Claim, or otherwise at any time fails to conduct the defense of the Third Party Claim actively and diligently, upon five (5)
days’ prior written notice, provided the Indemnifying Party does not resume the defense during those five (5) days or delivers
such required notice, the Indemnified Party may defend, and may consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any
compromise or settlement with respect to, the Third Party Claim in any manner it may deem appropriate (and the Indemnified
Party need not consult with, or obtain any consent from, the Indemnifying Party in connection therewith). If such notice and
evidence is given on a timely basis and the Indemnifying Party conducts the defense of the Third Party Claim actively and
diligently but any of the other conditions in Section 6.4.2 is or becomes unsatisfied, the Indemnified Party may defend, and may
consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any compromise or settlement with respect to, the Third Party Claim; provided,
however, that the Indemnifying Party will not be bound by the entry of any such judgment consented to, or any such compromise
or settlement effected, without its prior written consent (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

 
7.     CONDITIONS TO CLOSING.

 
7.1.     Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party. The obligations of the Parties to consummate the Closing are subject to the

satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions:
 

7.1.1     (i) No preliminary or permanent injunction or other order shall have been issued by any court of competent
jurisdiction, whether federal, state or foreign, or by any governmental or regulatory body, whether federal, state or foreign, nor
shall any statute, rule, regulation or executive order be promulgated or enacted by any Governmental Authority, whether federal,
state or foreign, which prevents the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement; and (ii) no suit, action,
claim, proceeding or investigation before any court, arbitrator or administrative, governmental or regulatory body, whether
federal, state or foreign, shall have been commenced and be pending against Seller or Buyer or any of their respective Affiliates,
associates, officers or directors seeking to prevent the sale of the Acquired Assets or the Business or asserting that the sale of the
Acquired Assets or the Business would be illegal.

 
7.1.2      Seller and Liberty Test Equipment, Inc are currently parties to a Giga-tronics Distributorship Agreement, dated

January 6, 2014 (“Distributorship Agreement”). The parties mutually agree to obtain a waiver from Liberty Test Equipment, Inc
(i) at the time of signing this Agreement to expand the list of products covered by the Distribution Agreement by means of
execution of Exhibit C, and (ii) enable the transfer of all rights, privileges and liabilities of Giga-tronics under the Distributorship
Agreement to Spanawave Corporation by means of execution of Exhibit D to this written Agreement, effective on the Closing
Date of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the terms therein, upon such transfer, the Parties agree that Seller shall not be obligated
to purchase the inventory of products that are subject to the Distributorship Agreement. At each Phase Completion Date, the
associated products will transfer from the Seller to the Buyer as it relates to the Liberty Test Distributorship Agreement.
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7.2.     Conditions to the Obligations of the Buyer. The obligation of the Buyer to consummate the Closing is subject to the
satisfaction or waiver of the following further conditions:

 
7.2.1     (A) each of the representations and warranties contained in Section 3 (other than those that address matters as of

particular dates) shall be true and correct at and as of the Closing as though then made (disregarding any qualification as to
materiality, Material Adverse Effect, or a similar concept) and (B) each of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3
that address matters as of particular dates shall be true and correct as of such dates (disregarding any qualification as to
materiality, Material Adverse Effect or similar concept), unless in the case of (A) and (B) the failure to be true and correct does
not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
7.2.2     The Seller shall have performed or complied with all obligations, covenants and conditions required by this

Agreement to be performed or complied with at or prior to each applicable Phase Completion Date and the Closing Date, except
for such failures to perform or comply that would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
7.2.3     The Buyer shall have received the items to be delivered by the Seller pursuant to  Section 2.

 
7.3.     Conditions to the Obligations of the Seller. The obligation of Seller to consummate the Closing is subject to the satisfaction

or waiver of the following further condition:
 

7.3.1     The Buyer shall have performed or complied with all obligations, covenants and conditions required by this
Agreement to be performed or complied with at or prior to the Closing Date, except for such failures to perform or comply that
would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
7.3.2     (A) each of the representations and warranties contained in Section 4 (other than those that address matters as of

particular dates) shall be true and correct when made at and as of the Closing as though then made (disregarding any qualification
as to materiality, Material Adverse Effect, or a similar concept) and (B) each of the representations and warranties set forth in
Section 4 that address matters as of particular dates shall be true and correct as of such dates (disregarding any qualification as to
materiality, Material Adverse Effect or similar concept), unless in the case of (A) and (B) the failure to be true and correct does
not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
7.3.3     The Seller shall have received the items to be delivered by the Buyer pursuant to  Section 2.

 
7.3.4        Distributorship Agreement.

 
(a)     Based on the list of products shipped by Seller to Buyer, but not yet paid for by Buyer, pursuant to Section 7.2.4, Seller

shall have received payment from Buyer no later than thirty (30) days after shipment.
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(b)     As of the Closing Date of this Agreement, Buyer agrees to and shall release the Seller of any and all obligations with
respect to providing (i) any royalty payments, and (ii) any services such as support, maintenance and consultation, pursuant to
the Distributorship Agreement and with respect to the Acquired Assets, and Seller shall have no further liability or obligation
whatsoever with respect to the same, except as explicitly set forth in Section 5.3. Such releases shall be given on each respective
Phase Completion Date with respect to those products covered by that Phase. Notwithstanding any order received for shipment
of product by Buyer after the Closing Date, Seller shall have no further obligation to ship any products related therein, and such
orders shall be invalid. Such written agreement shall be set forth as Schedule 4.5.

 
8.     MISCELLANEOUS.

 
8.1.     Notices. All notices, requests, demands, claims and other communications required or permitted to be delivered, given or

otherwise provided under this Agreement must be in writing and must be delivered, given or otherwise provided: (a) by hand (in which
case, it will be effective upon delivery); (b) by facsimile (in which case, it will be effective upon receipt of confirmation of good
transmission); or (c) by overnight delivery by a nationally recognized courier service (in which case, it will be effective on the Business
Day after being deposited with such courier service); in each case, to the address (or facsimile number or email address) listed below:

 
If to the Buyer, to it at:
 
Spanawave Corporation
1640 Lead Hill Blvd., Suite 120
Roseville, CA 95661
Toll-free: (877) 821-4811
Phone: (916) 625-4228
Fax: (916) 782-0891
 
Attention: Mesut Koch 

 

  
If to the Seller, to it at:
 
Giga-tronics Incorporated
4650 Norris Canyon Road
San Ramon, CA 94583
Attn: Steve Lance, CFO
Telephone number: 925 302-1056
Email: slance@gigatronics.com

 

 
 

Each of the parties to this Agreement may specify different address or facsimile number by giving notice in accordance with this
Section 8.1 to each of the other parties hereto.
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8.2.     Succession and Assignment; No Third-Party Beneficiary. Subject to the immediately following sentence, this Agreement
will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns, each of which
such successors and permitted assigns will be deemed to be a party hereto for all purposes hereof. No Party may assign, delegate or
otherwise transfer either this Agreement or any of its rights, interests, or obligations hereunder without the prior written approval of the
other parties, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided, however, that the Buyer may (a) assign
any or all of its rights and interests hereunder to one or more of its Affiliates, and (b) designate one or more of its Affiliates to perform
its obligations hereunder, in each case, so long as Buyer is not relieved of any Liability hereunder. Except as expressly provided herein,
this Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Parties and their permitted successors and assignees and nothing herein expressed or
implied will give or be construed to give any Person, other than the Parties and such successors and assignees, any legal or equitable
rights hereunder.

 
8.3.     Amendments and Waivers. No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be valid and binding unless it

is in writing and signed, in the case of an amendment, by the Buyer and the Seller, or in the case of a waiver, by the Party against whom
the waiver is to be effective. No waiver by any party of any breach or violation or, default under or inaccuracy in any representation,
warranty or covenant hereunder, whether intentional or not, will be deemed to extend to any prior or subsequent breach, violation,
default of, or inaccuracy in, any such representation, warranty or covenant hereunder or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of
any prior or subsequent such occurrence. No delay or omission on the part of any party in exercising any right, power or remedy under
this Agreement will operate as a waiver thereof.

 
8.4.     Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any documents (including Schedules and Exhibits), instruments and

certificates explicitly referred to herein, constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter
hereof and supersedes any and all prior discussions, negotiations, proposals, undertakings, understandings and agreements, whether
written or oral, with respect thereto.

 
8.5.     Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but

all of which together will constitute but one and the same instrument. This Agreement will become effective when duly executed by
each party hereto.

 
8.6.     Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction will

not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or the validity or enforceability of the offending
term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. In the event that any provision hereof would, under applicable law,
be invalid or unenforceable in any respect, each party hereto intends that such provision will be construed by modifying or limiting it so
as to be valid and enforceable to the maximum extent compatible with, and possible under, applicable law.

 
8.7.     Construction; Headings. The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event

an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no
presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this
Agreement. The Parties intend that each representation, warranty and covenant contained herein will have independent significance.
Any references to “including” in this Agreement shall be deemed to refer to “including without limitation.” The headings contained in
this Agreement are for convenience purposes only and will not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation hereof.
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8.8.     Governing Law. This Agreement, the rights of the parties and all Actions arising in whole or in part under or in connection
herewith, will be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic substantive laws of the State of California, without giving
effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule that would cause the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction.

 
8.9.     Jurisdiction; Service of Process. Each Party to this Agreement, by its execution hereof, (a) hereby irrevocably submits to the

exclusive jurisdiction of the state courts of the State of California or the United States District Court located in the Northern District of
the State of California for the purpose of any Action between the Parties arising in whole or in part under or in connection with this
Agreement, (b) hereby waives to the extent not prohibited by applicable law, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense or
otherwise, in any such Action, any claim that it is not subject personally to the jurisdiction of the above-named courts, that its property
is exempt or immune from attachment or execution, that any such Action brought in one of the above-named courts should be dismissed
on grounds of forum non conveniens, should be transferred or removed to any court other than one of the above-named courts, or
should be stayed by reason of the pendency of some other proceeding in any other court other than one of the above-named courts, or
that this Agreement or the subject matter hereof may not be enforced in or by such court and (c) hereby agrees not to commence any
such Action other than before one of the above-named courts. Notwithstanding the previous sentence a Party may commence any
Action in a court other than the above-named courts solely for the purpose of enforcing an order or judgment issued by one of the
above-named courts. Service of process upon any party shall be deemed, in every respect, effective upon such party if made by prepaid
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or if personally delivered against receipt to the address set forth in Section 8.1 or to
such other address as a party may designate in writing to the others.

 
8.10.     Specific Performance. Each Party acknowledges and agrees that the other Party would be damaged irreparably in the event

any of the provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance with their specific terms or otherwise are breached or violated.
Accordingly, each Party agrees that, without posting bond or other undertaking, the other Party will be entitled to an injunction or
injunctions to prevent breaches or violations of the provisions of this Agreement and to enforce specifically this Agreement and the
terms and provisions hereof in any Action instituted in any court of the United States or any state thereof having jurisdiction over the
Parties and the matter in addition to any other remedy to which it may be entitled, at law or in equity. Each Party further agrees that, in
the event of any action for specific performance in respect of such breach or violation, it will not assert that the defense that a remedy at
law would be adequate.
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8.11.     Waiver of Jury Trial. TO THE EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW THAT CANNOT BE
WAIVED, THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE, AND COVENANT THAT THEY WILL NOT ASSERT (WHETHER AS
PLAINTIFF, DEFENDANT OR OTHERWISE), ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION ARISING IN
WHOLE OR IN PART UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE CONTEMPLATED
TRANSACTIONS, WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN
CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT ANY OF THEM MAY FILE A COPY OF THIS
PARAGRAPH WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND BARGAINED-
FOR AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES IRREVOCABLY TO WAIVE ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
PROCEEDING WHATSOEVER BETWEEN THEM RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE
CONTEMPLATED TRANSACTIONS AND THAT ANY SUCH PROCEEDING WILL INSTEAD BE TRIED IN A COURT
OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION BY A JUDGE SITTING WITHOUT A JURY.

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Agreement as an agreement under seal as of the date first
above written.
 
 
   THE BUYER: SPANAWAVE CORPORATION, a California

 
corporation
 
 
 
 
By: ___________________________________
Name: 
Title:  

 
 
 
   THE SELLER: GIGA-TRONICS INCORPORATED, a California

 
corporation
 
Name: 
Title:

By: ___________________________________
 
 

[Signature Page to Asset Purchase Agreement ]
 

 
 



 
 

Exhibit A – Definitions and Cross Reference Table
 

“Action” means any claim, action, cause of action or suit, litigation, controversy, assessment, arbitration, investigation, hearing,
charge, complaint, demand, notice or proceeding to, from, by or before any Governmental Authority.
 

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person at any time means, (a) each Person directly or indirectly controlling,
controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified Person at such time, (b) each Person who is at such time an
officer or director of, or direct or indirect beneficial holder of at least 20% of any class of the equity interests of, such specified Person, (c)
each Person that is managed by a common group of executive officers and/or directors as such specified Person, (d) the members of the
immediate family (i) of each officer, director or holder described in clause (b) and (ii) if such specified Person is an individual, of such
specified Person and (e) each Person of which such specified Person or an Affiliate (as defined in clauses (a) through (d)) thereof will,
directly or indirectly, beneficially own at least 20% of any class of equity interests at such time.
 

“Ancillary Agreements” means the agreements, documents and instruments executed at the Closing in connection with this
Agreement.
 

“Business Day” means any weekday other than a weekday on which banks in New York, NY are authorized or required to be
closed.
 

“Closing Date” means the date on which completion of all of the Phases referred to in the last paragraph of Section 2.1 have
actually occurred.
 

“Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
 

“Contractual Obligation” means, with respect to any Person, any contract, agreement, deed, mortgage, lease, license,
commitment, promise, undertaking, arrangement or understanding, whether written or oral and whether express or implied, or other
document or instrument, (a) to which or by which such Person is a party or otherwise subject or bound or to which or by which any
property, business, operation or right of such Person is subject or bound and (b) that is related to or materially affects the Business.
 

“Electronic Data” means all Intellectual Property included in the Acquired Assets that can be transferred electronically, including,
but not limited to, BOMs, schematics, artwork files, AVL, mechanical drawings, assembly drawings, and FPGA files.
 

“Encumbrance” means any charge, claim, community or other marital property interest, condition, equitable interest, lien, license,
option, pledge, security interest, mortgage, right of way, easement, encroachment, servitude, right of first offer or first refusal, buy/sell
agreement and any other restriction or covenant with respect to, or condition governing the use, construction, voting (in the case of any
security or equity interest), transfer, receipt of income or exercise of any other attribute of ownership.
 

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States as in effect from time to time.
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“Governmental Order” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, ruling, determination or award entered by
or with any Governmental Authority.
 

“Governmental Authority” means any United States federal, state or local or any foreign government, or political subdivision
thereof, or any multinational organization or authority or any authority, agency or commission entitled to exercise any administrative,
executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory or taxing authority or power, any court or tribunal (or any department, bureau or division
thereof), or any arbitrator or arbitral body.
 

“Indemnity Claim” means a claim for indemnity under Section 6.1 or 6.2, as the case may be.
 

“Indemnified Party” means, with respect to any Indemnity Claim, the party asserting such claim under Section 6.1 or 6.2, as the
case may be.
 

“Indemnifying Party” means, with respect to any Indemnity Claims, the Buyer Indemnified Person or the Seller Indemnified
Person under Section 6.1 or 6.2, as the case may be, against whom such claim is asserted.
 

“Intellectual Property” means the entire right, title and interest in and to all intellectual property rights of every kind and nature,
including such rights and interests pertaining to or deriving from any U.S. and non-U.S. (a) patents, inventions (whether patented or
unpatented), trade secrets, know-how, methods, processes, proprietary information, product designs, manufacturing drawings, and all
other forms of technology, (b) registered and incorporated trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade names, brand names, product
names, logos, slogans, domain names and other identifiers of source or goodwill, (c) registered and incorporated copyrights, including
copyrights in computer software, (d) software (including source code, object code, executables and related documentation), and (e) all
documentation, applications, registrations, renewals and other filings with respect to any of the foregoing.
 

“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service or any successor thereto.
 

“Legal Requirement” means any United States federal, state or local or foreign law, statute, standard, ordinance, code, rule,
regulation, resolution or promulgation, or any Governmental Order, or any license, franchise, permit or similar right granted under any of
the foregoing, or any similar provision having the force or effect of law.
 

“Liability” means, with respect to any Person, any liability or obligation, including any liability for Tax, of such Person whether
known or unknown, whether asserted or unasserted, whether determined, determinable or otherwise, whether absolute or contingent,
whether accrued or unaccrued, whether liquidated or unliquidated, whether incurred or consequential, whether due or to become due and
whether or not required under GAAP to be accrued on the financial statements of such Person.
 

“Material Adverse Effect” means any change in, or effect on, the Business, Acquired Assets, or Assumed Liabilities which, when
considered either individually or in the aggregate together with all other adverse changes or effects with respect to which such phrase is
used in this Agreement, is, or is reasonably likely to be, materially adverse to the Business, Acquired Assets, or Assumed Liabilities, taken
as a whole.
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“Microwave Signal Generator Products” include the Gigatronics 2500B signal generator and any related General Purpose
Electronic Test Equipment products, but exclude Giga-tronics’ Advanced Signal Generator and related non-GPETE products.
 

“Ordinary Course of Business” means an action taken by any Person in the ordinary course of such Person’s business which is
consistent with the past customs and practices of such Person (including past practice with respect to quantity, amount, magnitude and
frequency, standard employment and payroll policies and past practice with respect to management of cash and other working capital)
which is taken in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations of such Person.
 

“Permits” means, with respect to any Person, any license, franchise, permit, consent, approval, right, privilege, certificate or other
similar authorization issued by, or otherwise granted by, any Governmental Authority or any other Person to which or by which such
Person is subject or bound or to which or by which any property, business, operation or right of such Person is subject or bound.
 

“Person” means any individual or corporation, association, limited liability company, joint venture, joint stock or other company,
business trust, trust, organization, Governmental Authority or other entity of any kind.
 

“Product Lines” means all Acquired Assets and all associated business related to those assets.
 

“Representative” means, with respect to any Person, any director, officer, employee, agent, consultant, advisor, or other
representative of such Person, including legal counsel, accountants, and financial advisors.
 

“Retained Liability” means any Liability of the Seller of whatever nature that is not an Assumed Liability.
 

“Seller’s Knowledge” means the actual knowledge, after reasonable investigation, of the Shareholders and the officers of the
Seller.
 

“Tax” or “Taxes” means (a) any and all federal, state, local, or foreign income, gross receipts, escheat, license, payroll,
employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental, duties (including customs duties), capital
stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar, including FICA), unemployment, disability, real property, personal
property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind or any charge of
any kind in the nature of (or similar to) taxes whatsoever, including any interest, penalty, or addition thereto, whether disputed or not and
(b) any liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (a) of this definition as a result of being a member of an
affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group for any period, as a result of any tax sharing or tax allocation agreement, arrangement
or understanding, or as a result of being liable for another Person’s taxes as a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise.
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“Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund or information return or statement relating to Taxes,
including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.
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Cross Reference Table
 
Defined Term  Section
“Acquired Assets”  2.1
“Acquired Intellectual Property”  3.7.1
“Agreement”  Preamble
“Assumed Liabilities”  2.3
“Business”  Recitals
“Buyer”  Preamble
“Buyer Indemnified Person”  6.1.1
“Closing”  2.5
“Disclosed Contract”  3.9.1
“Excluded Assets”  2.2
“Inventory Transfer Date”  2.8
“Licenses”  3.8.3
“Losses”  6.1.1
“Party”  Preamble
“Purchase Price”  2.3
“Seller”  Preamble
“Seller Indemnified Person”  6.2
“Third Party Claim”  6.4.1
“Transaction Expenses”  5.1
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COVENANT NOT TO SUE AGREEMENT
 

This Agreement is made by and between Giga-tronics Incorporated, (including its Affiliates, “Giga-tronics”) and Spanawave
Corporation, (including its Affiliates, “Spanawave”). Capitalized terms used, but not defined herein, have the meanings assigned to them in
the Asset Purchase Agreement (defined below).
 

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS, Giga-tronics and Spanawave entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement dated November 25, 2015, (the “Asset
Purchase Agreement”);
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, Spanawave purchased the product lines known as Power Measurement,
Network Measurement, Power Amplifier, and Microwave Signal Generator Product Lines and associated Intellectual Property as defined
in the Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Product Lines”);
 

WHEREAS, Spanawave will own certain patents (the “Patents”); and
 

WHEREAS, to the extent applicable, Giga-tronics desires to use the Patents in connection with products that do not compete
directly with the Product Lines purchased by Spanawave in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, and other good and valuable
consideration including the premises and mutual covenants, agreements and obligations set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement, the
receipt and adequacy of which being hereby acknowledged, the parties do hereby agree as follows:
 

TERMS
 
1.             Covenant Not to Sue.
 

1.1     Spanawave releases Giga-tronics from any claim it may have on account of Giga-tronics’s use of the Patents in connection
with the Product Lines. Giga-tronics agrees not to use the Patents except with products that do not compete directly with the Product Lines
purchased in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
 

1.2     Spanawave covenants that at no time will it make any claim or commence or prosecute against Giga-tronics or any of its
distributors or customers, any suit, action or proceeding of any kind based upon Giga-tronics’s use of the Patents in connection with the
Product that occurred prior to the date of this Agreement or occurs after the date of this Agreement.
 
2.             Effective Date, Term and Termination.
 

2.1     The term of this Agreement shall commence on the effective date hereof and expire upon the expiration of the last to expire
Patents (“Expiration Date”), unless terminated earlier as hereinafter provided (“Term”).
 

 
 



 
 

2.2     Spanawave may terminate this Agreement prior to the Expiration Date if Giga-tronics breaches any material provision and
has failed to cure such breach within sixty (60) days following written notice of the details of such breach by Giga-tronics.
 

2.3     Giga-tronics may terminate this Agreement prior to the Expiration Date upon providing sixty (60) days written notice to
Spanawave of its intentions to terminate said Agreement.
 
3.             General
 

3.1     Affiliate. “Affiliate” means any individual, corporation, partnership or other entity directly or indirectly controlled by or
under direct or indirect control with a party to this Agreement. For this purpose, “control” means the power to direct the management and
policies of an entity through the ownership of securities, by contract or otherwise and terms “controlling” and “controlled” have meanings
correlative to the foregoing.
 

3 . 2     Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California without giving
effect to principles of conflict of laws. The parties consent to the jurisdiction of all federal courts of record situated in the Northern District
of the State of California.
 

3.3     Limitation of Liability. IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY OR ITS AFFILIATES BE LIABLE UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT FOR ANY CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES, SPECIAL DAMAGES, LOST
PROFITS, INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, INDIRECT DAMAGES OR DAMAGES BASED ON ANY TYPE OF MULTIPLIER OR
OTHER SIMILAR ITEMS, INCLUDING ATTORNEYS’ FEES REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH DAMAGES WERE
REASONABLY FORESEEABLE.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has caused this Agreement to be executed by one of its officers thereunto
duly authorized, all as of the date first above herein written.
 
 
 GIGA-TRONICS INCORPORATED  
  
 
 By:_________________________________________________ 
 Name::_________________________________________________  
 Title::_________________________________________________  
 
 
 SPANAWAVE Corporation
 
 By:_________________________________________________  
 Name::_________________________________________________   
 Title::_________________________________________________   
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TRANSITION SERVICES AGREEMENT
 

This Transition Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of November 25, 2015 by Giga-Tronics
Incorporated, a California company (“Giga-Tronics” or the “Seller”), and Spanawave Corporation., a California corporation
(“Spanawave” or the “Buyer”). The Buyer and the Seller are hereinafter referred to jointly as the “Parties”, and each individually as a
“Party”.
 

INTRODUCTION
 

The Seller and the Buyer entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2015 (the “Purchase
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Seller has agreed to sell, transfer and assign to the Buyer, and the Buyer has agreed to purchase from
the Seller, certain of the assets and obligations of Giga-Tronics (the “Business”), upon and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in
the Purchase Agreement. As contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, the Buyer has requested and the Seller has agreed to provide
certain transition services as detailed herein. The Seller and the Buyer are entering into this Agreement simultaneously with the Closing to
set forth the terms upon which the Seller will provide such services. Capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meanings
ascribed to them in the Purchase Agreement.
 

Now, therefore, in consideration of the agreements and promises hereinafter set forth, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE I
SERVICES PROVIDED BY SELLER

 
Section 1.1     Provision of Services. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, during the Transition Period (as

defined hereinafter) the Seller agrees to provide, and/or at the Seller’s option cause its Affiliates and the Subcontractors (as defined
hereinafter) to provide, to the Buyer, and the Buyer agrees to purchase from the Seller, those services described in Exhibit A hereto
(collectively, the “Services”).
 

Section 1.2     Manner of Service. The Seller will perform, and/or at the Seller’s option cause its Affiliates and the
Subcontractors, as reasonably possible, to perform the Services, as applicable, in the manner in which such Services were performed
during the three (3) month period immediately preceding the Closing Date of each phase, or otherwise as reasonably requested by the
Buyer from time to time.
 

Section 1.3     Subcontracting of Services. The Buyer understands that, prior to the date of this Agreement, the Seller may have
subcontracted with certain third parties (collectively, the “Subcontractors”) pursuant to certain agreements (collectively, the
“Subcontracts”) to perform a portion of the Services. The Seller shall be free to terminate any Subcontract or subcontract with any third
party to provide services in connection with a portion of any of the Services (which agreements shall be included in the definition of
Subcontracts and which subcontractors shall be included in the definition of Subcontractors). Subject to Article VI hereof, the Seller shall
use reasonable efforts to identify reasonable alternatives for the Services provided by any Subcontractor in the event such Subcontractor
becomes unable or declines to provide such subcontracted Services or Seller terminates such Subcontract. Nothing contained in this
Agreement shall preclude the Buyer, either during or after the Transition Period, from contracting directly with any Subcontractor to
provide any of the Services directly to the Buyer, subject to the provisions of Article VIII hereof.
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Section 1.4     Buyer’s Assumption of Services. The Buyer shall make commercially reasonable efforts to assume performance
of the Services within shorter time periods than those specified. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Buyer shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to make or obtain any approvals, permits and licenses and implement such systems as may be necessary to provide the
Services independently as soon as reasonably practicable following the Closing.

 
ARTICLE II

TERM
 

Subject to the provisions of Article VIII hereof, the terms for which particular Services are to be provided hereunder and the
related Transition Period (as defined hereinafter) for each such Service are set forth on Exhibit A. As used herein, the term “Transition
Period” shall mean the period commencing on the date hereof and ending on the last date on which any Services are provided to the
Buyer hereunder. The Seller shall be under no obligation to provide any Services to the Buyer beyond the periods set forth on Exhibit A
with respect to such Services.
 

ARTICLE III
COMPENSATION

 
Section 3.1     Fees. In consideration for the Services, the Buyer shall pay the Seller (a) the respective estimated fees described on

Exhibit A attached hereto and (b) all other out-of-pocket costs actually incurred by the Seller and associated with the provision of the
Services by or on behalf of the Seller (collectively, “Fees”); provided that, in accordance with Section 1.4 hereof, if the Buyer assumes
any portion of the Services prior to the end of the Transition Period, the Fees shall be reduced in accordance with Section 8.3(b) hereof.
 

Section 3.2     Billing. All Fees due will be billed and paid for in the following manner: statements will (i) be rendered to the
Buyer by the Seller within fifteen (15) days after the end of each month during the Transition Period for all Services delivered during the
preceding month and (ii) contain reasonable detail of the Services being invoiced. If the Seller identifies additional unbilled Fees for
periods already billed, the Seller may provide additional statements for such prior periods or may include such unbilled Fees in future
statements.
 

Section 3.3     Payment and Disputes.
 

(a)     The Buyer shall pay to the Seller an amount in cash equal to the amount of any Fees due under each statement
provided pursuant to Section 3.2 hereof by electronic transfer of immediately available funds or paper check not later than thirty
(30) days after the date of receipt thereof, unless other arrangements for payment are mutually agreed to by the Parties.
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(b)     In the event the Buyer disputes any amount of any invoice for Services, the Buyer shall so notify Seller in writing
thereof, and the Parties shall meet and discuss in good faith the resolution of any such disputes. In the event that such discussion
reveals that the Fees paid by the Buyer exceed the amount of Fees properly payable hereunder, Seller shall immediately refund
such excess to the Buyer and shall reimburse the Buyer for the cost of any inspection directly related thereto.

 
ARTICLE IV
PERSONNEL

 
Section 4.1     Supervision and Compensation; Insurance.

 
(a)     The Seller shall select, employ, pay, supervise, direct and discharge all of its personnel providing the Services

hereunder. The Seller shall be solely responsible for the payment of all wages, bonuses, commissions, benefits (including,
employee benefit plans, programs and arrangements) and any other direct and indirect compensation for its personnel assigned to
perform the Services under this Agreement, as well as be responsible for the worker’s compensation insurance, employment taxes,
and other employer liabilities relating to such personnel as required by law to be provided or otherwise provided by the Seller. The
Seller shall be responsible for the payment of all fees, compensation, reimbursements and other amounts owing to the
Subcontractors from time to time pursuant to the Subcontracts. All costs incurred by the Seller pursuant to this Section 4.1(a) shall
be included in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof. The Seller’s employees shall not be deemed employees of the
Buyer.

 
(b)     The Buyer shall be solely responsible for the payment of all wages, bonuses, commissions, benefits (including,

employee benefit plans, programs and arrangements) and any other direct and indirect compensation for its respective personnel,
including those personnel involved in the receipt of the Services under this Agreement, as well as be responsible for its respective
worker’s compensation insurance, employment taxes, and other employer liabilities relating to such personnel as required by law
to be provided or otherwise provided by the Buyer. The Buyer’s employees, including those involved in the receipt of the Services,
shall not be deemed employees of the Seller.

 
Section 4.2     Party Representatives. Steve Lance, or a replacement reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer, shall be designated as

the Seller’s representative (the “Seller’s Representative”) and Mesut Koch, or a replacement reasonably satisfactory to the Seller, shall be
designated as the Buyer’s representative (the “Buyer’s Representative”) to coordinate with the Buyer and Seller, respectively, under this
Agreement. The Seller’s Representative and the Buyer’s Representative shall meet from time to time as necessary, to discuss the Services
being provided, the charges therefor, any problems with the Services or charges and any proposed modifications.
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ARTICLE V
ACCESS

 
Upon reasonable notice, throughout the Transition Period, as applicable, each Party shall have reasonable access to the facilities

and premises of the other Party to the extent necessary to provide the Services, in each case subject to the safety, security, confidentiality
and other policies and procedures of such Party in place from time to time. The Buyer shall provide the Seller with such information,
management direction and documentation as is reasonably necessary for the Selles to perform the Services and the Buyer shall perform
such other duties and tasks as may be reasonably required to permit the Seller to perform the Services.
 

ARTICLE VI
CONFIDENTIALITY

 
The provisions of the non-disclosure and confidentiality agreement between the Seller and the Buyer dated January 9, 2015 (the

“Confidentiality Agreement”) are incorporated herein by reference, it being understood that such provisions shall not prevent or restrict
either Party from performing its obligations under this Agreement, but that the performance by each Party hereunder shall be subject to the
provisions of such Confidentiality Agreement.
 

ARTICLE VII
INDEMNIFICATION

 
Section 7.1     Indemnity.

 
(a)     The Buyer agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Seller and its Affiliates (the “Seller Indemnified

Parties”) from, against and in respect of all losses, damages (excluding punitive and consequential damages), liabilities, costs and
expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in investigating, preparing or defending any claims covered
hereby) (collectively, “Losses”) imposed on, sustained, incurred or suffered by or asserted against, any of the Seller Indemnified
Parties, directly or indirectly relating to or arising out of any actions of the Seller Indemnified Parties, or Seller’s officers,
directors, employees, agents, contractors or subcontractors, caused by any product or information of the Buyer provided to the
Seller or caused by or resulting from the negligence, misconduct or unlawful conduct of any of the Buyer Indemnified Parties (as
defined hereinafter) or the Buyer’s officers, directors or employees, in each case in connection with the performance of the Seller’s
obligations under this Agreement, except to the extent such Losses result from a breach of Section 1.2 or the gross negligence,
willful misconduct or unlawful conduct of any of the Seller Indemnified Parties or Seller’s officers, directors or employees.
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(b)     Except for Losses suffered from a breach of Section 1.2, the Seller shall not be liable, whether in negligence, breach
of contract or otherwise, for any Losses imposed on, sustained, incurred or suffered by or asserted against, either the Buyer or its
Affiliates (the “Buyer Indemnified Parties” and, together with the Seller Indemnified Parties, the “Indemnified Parties”) from a
breach by the Seller of any of its obligations under this Agreement, except to the extent that such Losses are caused by the gross
negligence, willful misconduct or unlawful conduct of any of the Seller Indemnified Parties in connection with the performance of
the Seller’s obligations under this Agreement. The Seller agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Buyer Indemnified
Parties from, against and in respect of all Losses imposed on, sustained, incurred or suffered by or asserted against, any of the
Buyer Indemnified Parties and caused by or resulting from the gross negligence, willful misconduct or unlawful conduct of the
Seller Indemnified Parties in connection with the performance of the Seller’s obligations under this Agreement.

 
(c)     The Seller makes no express or implied representations, warranties or guarantees relating to the Services other than

as provided expressly herein, including, without limitation, any implied warranty of merchantability or fitness for a particular
purpose; provided, however, that if the Seller fails to perform under or otherwise breach this Agreement, it will use commercially
reasonable efforts to cure the failure to perform or breach prior to the termination of the Agreement; provided further that this
Section 7.1(c) shall in no way limit the covenants contained in Section 1.2 hereof.

 
Section 7.2     Limitation of Liability.

 
 

 

(a) EXCEPT FOR BREACHES OF SECTION 1.2, NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING ELSE HEREIN TO THE
CONTRARY, IN NO EVENT SHALL ANY PARTY’S LIABILITY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER
UNDER (I) THIS ARTICLE VII, (II) ANY OTHER SECTION HEREOF, (III) ANY STATUTE, REGULATION OR
COMMON LAW (EXCEPT FRAUD), OR WHETHER OTHERWISE ARISING HEREUNDER, EXCEED THE
AMOUNT PAID BY THE OTHER PARTY TO IT PURSUANT TO ARTICLE III HEREOF.

 

 

(b) IN NO EVENT WILL ANY PARTY BE LIABLE FOR INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL,
EXEMPLARY, MULTIPLE OR OTHER INDIRECT PENALTIES OR DAMAGES, OR FOR LOST PROFITS, OR
PENALTIES, ARISING OUT OF THE PROVISION OF SERVICES AS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER, EVEN
IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

 
Section 7.3     Method of Asserting Claims. All claims for indemnification hereunder shall be asserted and resolved in the

manner described in Article 6 of the Purchase Agreement.
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ARTICLE VIII
TERMINATION

 
Section 8.1     Termination by Either Party . This Agreement, or any Service provided hereunder, may be terminated by

(i) mutual written agreement of the Parties, (ii) written notice from Buyer that a Service is no longer needed or (iii) by either Party upon
written notice to the other Party if:
 

(a)     the other Party fails to perform or otherwise breaches a material obligation under this Agreement; provided,
however, that such Party failing to perform or otherwise breaching shall have thirty (30) days from the date notice of intention to
terminate is received to cure the failure to perform or breach of an obligation, at which time this Agreement or the applicable
Service, as the case may be, shall terminate if the failure or breach has not been cured to the reasonable satisfaction of the other
Party;

 
(b)     the other Party commences a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief

with respect to itself or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any substantial part of its property, or shall
consent to any such relief or to the appointment of or taking possession by any such official in an involuntary case or other
proceeding commenced against it, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall take any corporate action
to authorize any of the foregoing;

 
(c)     if either Party should assign or attempt to assign any interest or all or part of this Agreement in violation of this

Agreement; or
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(d)     the provision or receipt of any Service is prohibited by applicable law.
 

Any termination notice delivered by either Party shall specify in detail (i) the Service or Services to be terminated, or (ii) if this
Agreement is to be terminated as a whole, and, in each case, the effective date of termination.
 

Section 8.2     Automatic Termination. This Agreement shall terminate automatically upon the expiration of the Transition
Period.
 

Section 8.3     Consequences of Termination. In the event this Agreement or any Service is terminated for any reason:
 

(a)     Upon request, each Party shall return to the other Party all tangible personal property owned by the other Party in its
possession as of the termination date.

 
(b)     If this Agreement or any Service is terminated, the Buyer will be responsible for the Fees payable to the Seller

through the date of termination in accordance with Article III for Services actually rendered through such date and for the actual,
documented costs, not to exceed the total amount payable under this Agreement for such Service, incurred by the Seller as a result
of shutting down, winding up or otherwise ceasing to provide the Services (the “Termination Charges”).

 
(c)     All Termination Charges will be billed and paid for in the following manner: a statement prepared in reasonable

detail will be rendered to the Buyer by the Seller within thirty (30) days following such termination and shall be accompanied by
reasonable supporting documentation. If the Seller identifies additional Termination Charges at a later date, the Seller may provide
additional statements.
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(d)     The Buyer shall pay an amount in cash equal to the amount of any Termination Charges due under each statement
provided pursuant to Section 8.3(c) hereof by electronic transfer of immediately available funds or paper check not later than thirty
(30) days after the date of receipt thereof.

 
ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEOUS
 

Section 9.1     Notices. All notices, requests and other communications to either Party hereunder shall be in writing (including
facsimile, telecopy or similar writing) and shall be sent,
 

if to Seller, to:
 

Giga-Tronics, Incorporated
4650 Norris Canyon Road
San Ramon, CA 94583
Attention: Mr. Steve Lance

 
if to Buyer, to:

 
Spanawave Corporation
1640 Lead Hill Blvd., Suite 120
Roseville, CA 95661
Attention: Mesut Koch

 
Section 9.2     Amendments; No Waivers.

 
(a)     Any provisions of this Agreement may be amended or waived if, and only if, such amendment or waiver is in

writing and signed, in the case of an amendment, by the Buyer and Seller, or in the case of a waiver, by the Party against whom the
waiver is to be effective.

 
(b)     No failure or delay by either Party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver

thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other
right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies
provided by law.

 
Section 9.3     Expenses. Except as otherwise provided herein, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement

shall be paid by the Party incurring such cost or expense.
 

Section 9.4     Successors and Assigns. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns; provided that no Party may assign, delegate or otherwise transfer any of its
rights or obligations under this Agreement without the consent of the other Party hereto.
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Section 9.5     Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of
California, without regard to the conflicts of law rules of such state.
 

Section 9.6     WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED
BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY
OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY (A) CERTIFIES
THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR
OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE
FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER
INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS
SECTION 9.6.
 

Section 9.7     Survival. Articles III, VI, VII, VIII and IX shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.
 

Section 9.8     Counterparts; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall
be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. This Agreement shall become
effective when each Party hereto shall have received a counterpart hereof signed by the other Party hereto. Any signature delivered by a
facsimile machine or electronic mail is binding to the same extent as an original signature page.
 

Section 9.9     Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Purchase Agreement and its related Ancillary Agreements, and the
Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all
prior agreements, understandings and negotiations, both written and oral, between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this
Agreement. No representation, inducement, promise, understanding, condition or warranty not set forth herein has been made or relied
upon by either Party hereto.
 

Section 9.10     Force Majeure. To the extent that the Seller or any of its Affiliates or any Subcontractor or other subcontractor is
wholly or partially prevented from providing any Service hereunder, or any Service is interrupted or suspended, in each case by reason of
any cause beyond such Person’s reasonable control including, but not limited to, fire, storm, flood, earthquake, explosion, war, terrorist
attack, strike or labor disruption, rebellion, insurrection, quarantine, act of God, boycott, embargo, shortage or unavailability of supplies,
riot, or governmental law, regulation or edict (individually a “Force Majeure Event” and collectively, the “Force Majeure Events”), the
Seller shall be excused from its obligations to perform such Services; provided, that following the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event,
the Seller shall use its reasonable efforts to (i) avoid or remove the causes of non-performance of the Services and shall resume
performance hereunder as soon as practicable whenever such causes are removed or (ii)  at the sole cost and expense of the Buyer, assist
the Buyer in securing from an alternative source any Services that are not being performed as a result of such Force Majeure Event. The
Seller will give prompt notice to the Buyer upon learning of any Force Majeure Event affecting its obligations or the obligations of any of
its Affiliates or any Subcontractor under this Agreement and its reasonable estimate of the expected duration of the associated delay. The
Buyer shall have no obligation to pay for any costs that are not incurred and for any Services that are not performed by the Seller as a
result of a Force Majeure Event. No Party shall be liable for any Loss whatsoever arising out of any delay or failure in the performance of
its obligations pursuant to this Agreement to the extent such delay or failure results from a Force Majeure Event.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
 
 
GIGA-TRONICS INCORPORATED           SPANAWAVE CORPORATION 
  
 By: ___________________________  By: ______________________
  
 Name: _________________________  Name: ____________________
  
 Title: __________________________            Title: _____________________
  
 Date: _________________________            Date: ____________________
 

 
10 



 
 

EXHIBIT A
 

Item # Item Description /Transition Approach Transition Period Fee
1 Warranty Service Seller shall provide warranty repair and non-

warranty repair services for the Business on
behalf of Buyer.

To Closing Date of each
phase

No fee for in-warranty
service; out of warranty
service at current repair
charges under existing
purchase order.

2 Hybrid units or modules
required to be
manufactured by Seller
after Closing Date.

Seller shall manufacture hybrid required by
seller in association with Product Lines
purchased under the Asset Purchase
Agreement.

Ongoing, with Seller able
to give a six month
notification of
discontinuance of such
manufacturing services.

Cost plus 100%. Cost are
made up of materials,
overhead and labor. Seller
will share such cost
calculations with Buyer.

 
 

S-1 



 
 

Schedule 2.1
Acquired Assets

 
 
All assets required for the manufacture of products being acquired, including but not limited to:
Equipment, Fixtures, Tooling, Documentation (including mfg drawings, processes, software, test and calibration procedures, etc), BOMs,
Supplier Lists & Agreements, assignment of required Contracts and Agreements, and assignment or rights to use required Intellectual
Property,
 
 
PHASE Product Grouping Product Specifics

I High OEM Content USB Power Sensors
  GT1000B, GT1050B
  GT10408, GT1020X
  All Accessories
  Phase I Inventory
   

II Current Power Meters 865X
  864X
  Phase II Inventory
   

III High Volume Sensors 80301X
  8035X
  80701A
  80601A
  Phase III Inventory
   

IV Balance of Sensors All remaining
 VXI Expenses 58542XX
  Phase IV Inventory
   

V Obsolete Products (best efforts) 850X, 8003
 Calibration / Service Only  
  Phase V Inventory

VI Signal Generator 2500B (Excludes Advanced Signal Generator and
related products)

  Phase VI Inventory
 

 
 



 
 
\
 
 
Transaction Phase Dates and Payment Schedule
 

PHASE Phase
Commencement
Date

Phase Purchase
Price
Installment

Phase
Completion
Date

Phase Purchase
Price Installment

I  $75,000  $75,000 +
NBV/FMV of
Inventory
 

II  $75,000  $75,000+
NBV/FMV of
Inventory
 

III  $100,000  $100,000+
NBV/FMV of
Inventory
 

IV  $75,000  $75,000+
NBV/FMV of
Inventory
 

V  $50,000  $50,000+
NBV/FMV of
Inventory
 

VI  $375,000  $375,000 +
NBV/FMV of
Inventory

 
*”NBV/FMV of Inventory” means the Seller then current net book value for the Inventory.
 
All payments due Seller from Buyer pursuant to this Schedule 2.1 shall be made by means of electronic or wire transfer, referencing this
Agreement, to Seller’s bank account as set forth below, or to such other bank account or address as Seller may subsequently designate to
Licensee in writing:
 
[Giga-tronics: Please include bank account or other payment instructions.]
 

 
 



 
 
 

Schedule 2.1.4 Contractual Agreements
 
 1. Pacific Consultants/Pemstar Royalty Agreement
 
 2. Hassun Royalty agreement for patents 7208990, 7215167 and 7514970
 
 3. Cap Wireless OEM Supply Agreement and Amp Schedule
 

 
 

Schedule 2.1.6 Permits
 
None
 

Schedule 2.2.3 Excluded Assets
 
 1. Keysight E8364C VNA in Engineering
 
 2. Hassun Patents #7215167 and 7514970 which are not used in any of the products being transferred.
 

 
 

Schedule 2.7 Allocation Principles
 
 1. Inventory will be valued at fair market value or net book value as agreed to by Buyer and Seller
 

 
2. Fixed Assets shall be valued at resale (salvage value). This valuation will not result in a demand from Spanawave Corporation with

any additional payment to Giga-tronics and is purely internal to Giga-tronics.
 

 
3. Intellectual Property value shall be the remainder of the Purchase Price. This valuation will not result in a demand from Spanawave

Corporation with any additional payment to Giga-tronics and is purely internal to Giga-tronics.
 

 
 

Schedule 3.3 Authorization of Government Authorities
 
None required
 

Schedule 3.4 Effect of Completed Transaction
 
None  
 

Schedule 3.5 Absence of Certain Developments
 
On June 1, 2015 the Company entered into a $2.5 million Revolving Accounts Receivable Line of Credit agreement with Bridge Bank.
The credit facility agreement replaced the line of credit with SVB which expired April 15, 2015. The agreement provides for a maximum
borrowing capacity of $2.5 million with a $500,000 on a Non-Formula basis in addition to the Borrowing Base.
 

 
 



 
 
The loan is secured by all assets of the Company including intellectual property and general intangibles and provides for a borrowing
capacity equal to 80% of eligible accounts receivable. The loan matures on May 6, 2017 and bears an interest rate, equal to 1.5% over the
bank’s prime rate of interest (which was 3.25% at the date of closing resulting in an interest rate of 4.75%). Interest is payable monthly
with principal due upon maturity. The Company paid a commitment fee of $12,500, and an additional $12,500 is due on the first
anniversary of the loan closing. The loan agreement contains financial and non-financial covenants that are customary for this type of
lending and includes a covenant to maintain an asset coverage ratio of at least 135% (defined as unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
maintained with Bridge Bank, plus eligible accounts receivable aged less than 90 days from the invoice date, divided by the total amount
of outstanding principal of all obligations under the loan agreement). As of September 26, 2015, the Company was in compliance with all
the financial covenants under the agreement. The line of credit requires a lockbox arrangement, which provides for receipts to be swept
daily to reduce borrowings outstanding at the discretion of Bridge Bank. This arrangement, combined with the existence of the subjective
acceleration clause in the line of credit agreement, necessitates the line of credit be classified a current liability on the balance sheet. The
acceleration clause allows for amounts due under the facility to become immediately due in the event of a material adverse change in the
Company’s business condition (financial or otherwise), operations, properties or prospects, or ability to repay the credit based on the
judgment of lender. As of September 26, 2015, the Company’s total outstanding borrowings and remaining borrowing capacity under the
Bridge Bank line of credit were $950,000 and $1.0 million, respectively. Seller will provide a release from the Bridge Bank at or before
closing.
 
On March 13, 2014 the Company entered into a three year, $2.0 million term loan agreement with PFG under which the Company
received $1.0 million on March 14, 2014. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company had the ability to borrow an additional $1.0 million
following the Company’s achievement of certain performance milestones which included achieving $7.5 million in net sales during the
first half of fiscal 2015 and two consecutive quarters of net income greater than zero during fiscal 2015.
  
On June 16, 2014, the Company amended its loan agreement with PFG (the “Amendment”). Under the terms of the Amendment, PFG
made a revolving credit line available to Giga-tronics in the amount of $500,000, and the Company borrowed the entire amount on June
17, 2014. The revolving line has a 33 month term. The Amendment also reduced the Company’s potential future borrowing availability
under the PFG Loan agreement from $1.0 million to $500,000.
  
On June 3, 2015, and following the Company’s new line of credit agreement with Bridge Bank (see Note 11, Accounts Receivable Line of
Credit), the Company’s loan agreement with PFG was further amended (the “Second Amendment”). The Second Amendment cancelled
the Company’s $500,000 of borrowing availability under the June 2014 Amendment and required the Company to pay $150,000 towards
its existing $500,000 outstanding balance under the revolving line of credit, in which the Company paid in July 2015. The Company also
agreed to pay PFG an additional $10,000 per month towards its remaining credit line balance until repaid, followed by like payments
towards its term loan balance until repaid.
  
Interest on the initial $1.0 million term loan is fixed at 9.75% and required monthly interest only payments during the first six months of
the agreement followed by monthly principal and interest payments over the remaining 30 months. The Company may prepay the loan at
any time prior to maturity by paying all future scheduled principal and interest payments. As of September 26, 2015, the Company’s total
outstanding principal balance under the PFG term loan was $600,000.
 
Interest on the $500,000 revolving line with PFG is fixed, calculated on a daily basis at a rate of 12.50% per annum. The Company may
prepay the loan at any time prior to the March 13, 2017 maturity date without a penalty. Beginning in October 2014, PFG had the right to
convert the $500,000 revolving loan into a term loan and require principal payments to be amortized over the remaining loan term. On
April 25, 2015, PFG exercised this right, and fully amortizing principal and interest payments began in May 2015. As of June 27, 2015, the
Company’s total outstanding principal balance under the revolving credit line loan was $208,000.
  
The PFG Loan is secured by all of the assets of the Company under a lien that is junior to the Bridge Bank debt agreement described in
Note 11, and limits borrowing under the Bridge Bank credit line limit to $2.5 million. The Company paid a loan fee of $30,000 upon the
initial draw (“First Draw”), $15,000 for the June 2014 Amendment and $5,000 for the Second Amendment. The loan fees paid are
recorded as prepaid expenses and amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the PFG amended loan agreement.  
 
The PFG loan agreement contains financial covenants associated with the Company achieving minimum quarterly net sales and
maintaining a minimum monthly shareholders’ equity. In the event of default by the Company, all or any part of the Company’s obligation
to PFG could become immediately due. As of September 26, 2015, the Company was not in compliance with the financial covenants under
the agreement. As a result, the Company notified PFG of the non-compliance and PFG provided the Company a waiver related to the non-
compliance which required a $10,000 cash payment by the Company.
 

 
 



 
  
The loan agreement also provided for the issuance of warrants convertible into 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, of which
180,000 were exercisable upon receipt of the initial $1.0 million from the First Draw, and 80,000 became exercisable with the
Amendment. The Second Amendment terminated the additional 40,000 warrants that would have become exercisable as part of cancelling
the remaining $500,000 that was available under the Amendment. Each warrant issued under the loan agreement has a term of five years
from the First Draw and an exercise price of $1.42 which was equal to the average NASDAQ closing price of the Company’s common
stock for the ten trading days prior to the First Draw.
  
If the warrants are not exercised before expiration on March 13, 2019, the Company would be required to pay PFG $150,000 and $67,000
as settlement for warrants associated with the First Draw and the Amendment, respectively. The warrants could be settled for cash at an
earlier date in the event of any acquisition or other change in control of the Company, future public issuance of Company securities or
liquidation (or substantially similar event) of the Company. The Company currently has no plans for any of the aforementioned events,
and as a result, the cash payment date is estimated to be the expiration date unless warrants are exercised before then. The warrants have
the characteristics of both debt and equity and are accounted for as a derivative liability measured at fair value each reporting period with
the change in fair value recorded in earnings. The initial fair value of the warrants associated with the First Draw and Amendment were
$128,000 and $123,000, respectively.
 
As of September 26, 2015, the estimated fair values of the derivative liabilities associated with the warrants issued in connection with the
First Draw and Amendment were $176,000 and $118,000, respectively, for a combined value of $294,000. The change in the fair value of
the warrant liability totaled $110,000 for the three month period ended September 26, 2015 and is reported in the accompanying statement
of operations as a gain on adjustment of derivative liability to fair value.
  
The initial $1.0 million in proceeds under the term loan agreement were allocated between the PFG Loan and the warrants based on their
relative fair values on the date of issuance which resulted in initial carrying values of $822,000 and $178,000, respectively. The resulting
discount of $178,000 on the PFG Loan is being accreted to interest expense under the effective interest method over the three-year term of
the PFG Loan.
  
The proceeds from the $500,000 credit line issued in connection with the Amendment were allocated between the PFG Loan and the
warrants based on their relative fair values on the date of issuance which resulted in initial carrying values of $365,000 and $135,000,
respectively. The resulting discounts of $135,000 on the PFG Loan is being accreted to interest expense under the effective interest
method over the remaining term of the PFG Loan.
 
For the three month periods ended September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014, the Company recorded accretion of discount expense
associated with the PFG Loan of $63,000 and $45,000 respectively. For the six month period ended September 26, 2015 and September
27, 2014, the Company recorded accretion of discount expense associated with the PFG Loan of $105,000 and $69,000
respectively. Seller will provide a release from the PFG at or before closing. (PFG release received)
 
 
The Company has experienced difficulties with timely receipt and properly working amplifiers from Qorvo (formerly Triquent and Cap
Wireless). Continued problems with the ability to receive properly working amplifiers from Qorvo on a timely basis could impact the
future viability of the GT-1000B product.
 

Schedule 3.6 Assets  
 
The Seller has two royalty agreements in place as referenced in Schedule 2.1.4. Assumes bank releases obtained referenced in schedule
3.5,
 
US Patent 7,208,990 B1, April 24, 2007 – Spanawave will grant Giga-tronics a royalty-free & transferrable (to an acquirer) license to this
patent to make, use, have made and sell products containing the IP in this patent upon execution of the Asset Purchase Agreement
provided as Exhibit XX.
 

 
 



 
 

Schedule 3.7 Intellectual Property
 
The Seller has two royalty agreements in place as referenced in Schedule 2.1.4.
 
Assuming bank releases obtained referenced in schedule 3.5,
 
Gigatronics will assign the Pemstar royalty agreement to Spanawave.
 
GigaTronics will assign the Hassun Royalty agreement to Spanawave and grant a nonexclusive license to make, use, have made and sell
Microwave Signal Generator products that contain IP in the Hassun Patents 7215167 and 7514970.
 
US Patent 7,208,990 B1, April 24, 2007 – title passes to Spanawave with Microwave Signal Generator transfer.
 
US Patent 7,208,990 B1, April 24, 2007 – Spanawave will grant Giga-tronics a royalty-free and transferrable (to an acquirer) license to
make, use, have made and sell Advanced Signal Generator products containing the IP in this patent.
 
US Patent 4,794,325 B1, Dec. 27, 1998 – title passes to Spanawave with Power Meter transfer.
 
Open - Source Code for 8540C, VXI, 850X and 8003 is no longer available. (JOHN)
 
 
 

Schedule 3.8.1 legal Compliance
 
None
 

Schedule 3.8.2 Permits
 
None
 
 
 

Schedule 3.9 Contracts
 
The Seller has two royalty agreements in place as referenced in Schedule 2.1.4. Assumes bank releases obtained referenced in schedule
3.5.
 

Schedule 3.10 Affiliated Transactions
 
None
 

 
 



 
 

Schedule 3.11 Customer and Supplier List
 
 1) Customer List – open, primarily Liberty Test
 

 

2) The associated product lines are supported by a number of commercial suppliers which are listed on the Company’s last version
AVL and will be made available through the ARENA documentation and revision control system upon closing. The Company is
late with payments to numerous suppliers, while no supplier has notified the Company of intentions to cancel, terminate or
materially alter its relationship, this could occur at any time due to the payment issue.

 

 
3) All open quotes for products, parts or services for the Acquired Assets must be provided upon execution of the Asset Purchase

Agreement.
 

Schedule 3.12 Litigation
 

None
 

Schedule 3.13 Product Warranties
 

Typically Giga-tronics products carry a standard warranty as follows:
 

Giga-tronics warrants that all its manufactured products conform to published specifications and are free from defects in material and
workmanship for the specified period. This period starts on the date of the shipment and only applies if the instrument is used under
normal operation and within the service conditions. Giga-tronics shall have no responsibility hereunder for any defect or damage caused
by improper storage, improper installation, unauthorized modifications, misuse, neglect, inadequate maintenance, accident, or any part
of which has been repaired or altered by anyone other than Giga-tronics or its authorized representatives, or not in accordance with
Giga-tronics furnished instructions.

 
Giga-tronics products lines in general have exhibited very good reliability with few warranty repairs over the years. Most product
repairs occur beyond the warranty period and are related to normal wear.

 
Schedule 4.3 Authorization of Government Authorities

 
None

 
Schedule 4.4 Effect of Contemplated Transaction

 
None

 
Schedule 5.7 Non-Exclusive License

 
US Patent 7,208,990 B1, April 24, 2007 – title passes to Spanawave with Microwave Signal Generator transfer.
 
US Patent 7,208,990 B1, April 24, 2007 – Spanawave will grant Giga-tronics a royalty-free and transferrable (to an acquirer) license to
make, use, have made and sell Advanced Signal Generator products containing the IP in this patent.
 
GigaTronics will assign the Hassun Royalty agreement to Spanawave and grant a nonexclusive license to make, use, have made and sell
Microwave Signal Generator products that contain IP in the Hassun Patents 7215167 and 7514970.
 
 



EXHIBIT 31.1  
 
 

CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

I, John R. Regazzi, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Giga-tronics Incorporated;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

 

 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting;
and

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

 
 

Date: February 8, 2016    
   /s/ John R. Regazzi  
   John R. Regazzi  
   Chief Executive Officer  

   
 



 EXHIBIT 31.2
   

CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

I, Steven D. Lance, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Giga-tronics Incorporated;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

 
 

Date: February 8, 2016    
   /s/ Steven D. Lance  
   Steven D. Lance  
   Vice President of Finance  
   Chief Financial Officer & Secretary  

 



EXHIBIT 32.1
 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
 
In connection with the quarterly report of Giga-tronics Incorporated (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending December 26,
2015, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, John R. Regazzi, Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

 
 

Date: February 8, 2016    
   /s/ John R. Regazzi  
   John R. Regazzi  
   Chief Executive Officer  

 
 
 



EXHIBIT 32.2
 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
 
In connection with the quarterly report of Giga-tronics Incorporated (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending December 26,
2015, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Steven D. Lance, Vice President of
Finance, Chief Financial Officer & Secretary, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

 
 

Date: February 8, 2016    
   /s/ Steven D. Lance  
   Steven D. Lance  
   Vice President of Finance  
   Chief Financial Officer & Secretary  

 
 
 


